AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EFFECT OF EXCESS NITROGEN FERTILIZATION ON TRITICALE PRODUCTION UNDER RAINFED AND SUPPLEMENTAL IRRIGATION CONDITIONS

by MUDHAFAR AMEEN ABU-ALTEMEN

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Agriculture of the Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon April 2022

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EFFECT OF EXCESS NITROGEN FERTILIZATION ON TRITICALE PRODUCTION UNDER RAINFED AND SUPPLEMENTAL IRRIGATION CONDITIONS

by MUDHAFAR AMEEN ABU-ALTEMEN

Approved by:

Dr. Mustapha Haidar, Professor Agriculture

Advisor

Member of Committee

Dr. Isam Bashour, Professor Agriculture

Dr. Hadi Jaafar, Professor Agriculture

ommittee

Dr. Samer Kharroubi, Associate Professor Nutrition and Food Sciences

Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: April 29, 2022

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	Abu-Altemen	Mudhafar	Ameen
	Last	First	Middle

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my thesis.

Two years from the date of submission of my thesis.

 \boxtimes Three years from the date of submission of my thesis.

9 May 12, 2022_____

Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank Almighty Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful, for His blessing during my study and in completing this thesis. Also, I would like to acknowledge my deceased mother, who died nine months ago, for her outstanding support and inspiring me to complete my master's degree. Definitely, I would like to thank my country and the Traditional Owners of the land on which we meet today. Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Mustapha Haidar for his invaluable support and guidance throughout this project. In addition, I will never forget the help I take from the committee members from conducting this experiment until I complete writing this thesis, Dr. Isam Bashour, Dr. Hadi Jaafar, and Dr. Samer Kharroubi. Besides, the assistance provided by Dr. Housam Shaib during lab work was greatly appreciated.

I wish to show my appreciation towards the AREC staff, especially Mr. Nicolas Haddad, for their kind cooperation. They supplied me with all the necessary facilities for my research and offered me plenty of attention and time.

I wish to extend my special thanks to ICARDA, for supplying me with advanced techniques and new methods in agronomy science that helped me a lot.

I would like to thank the writing Centre at AUB, particularly Dr. Emy Zinger, for their guidance during my thesis writing.

Finally, but importantly, my unique and most profound gratitude goes to my wife, who has stood by me through all my travails, absences, and impatience. Also, I will not forget to thank my sisters and relatives for supporting my family and me during my graduate study.

ABSTRACT

OF THE THESIS OF

for

Mudhafar Ameen Abu-Altemen

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Plant Sciences

Title: Effect of Excess Nitrogen Fertilization on Triticale Production Under Rainfed and Supplemental Irrigation Conditions

Triticale (*Triticosecale Wittmack*) is an annual human-made cereal that belongs to the family Poaceae. It is an important crop in various regions of the world, known for its high forage potential, with little known about its water and nutrients requirements. This research presents the results of two adjacent field experiments that were conducted in the fall and spring of 2020-2021 at the Advancing Research Enabling Communities Center (AREC) in the Beqaa plain at the American University of Beirut, Lebanon to examine the effect of various rates of nitrogen fertilizer on growth parameters and yield quantity and quality of triticale under rainfed and supplementary irrigation. Each of the field experiments consisted of seven fertilizer treatments (0, NPK at 100 kg/ha, nitrogen at 40, 80, 120, 160, and 200 kg/ha). Supplementary irrigation was applied three times during the growing season starting 148, 157, and 172 days after planting (DAP). Data collected were plant height, shoot number, shoot fresh and dry weight, grain yield, spike number and weight, hay dry weight, and various grain parameters such as protein, fiber, starch, ash, fat, moisture and morphology.

Results showed that supplementary irrigation increased crop height, shoot fresh weight, and grain yield, compared to the rain-fed regardless of NPK or nitrogen applications. While it did not increase shoot dry weight in comparison to the rainfed. Neither nitrogen treatments nor supplementary irrigation alone enhanced hay dry weight, compared to rainfed. The addition of nitrogen at all tested rates had no significant effect on triticale shoot dry weight and grain yield under both irrigation systems. A higher yield was obtained under supplementary irrigation than in the rainfed system regardless of the nitrogen application. The average grain yield of triticale under supplementary irrigation was 5.8 tons/ha while it was 4.9 tons/ha under rainfed conditions. Spike number and weight with or without nitrogen fertilizers were higher under supplementary irrigation than in the rainfed system. Grain protein content under rainfed conditions with or without nitrogen was higher than supplementary irrigation. While the grain starch content under supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen was higher than the rain-fed. The addition of nitrogen fertilizer did not enhance grain starch content. Results show a negative relationship between grain starch and protein content under both irrigation systems. Supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen did not increase the grain ash content of grain in comparison to all rain-fed treatments. Application of nitrogen at all tested rates increased the grain moisture content under rain-fed compared to the supplementary irrigation. Morphological measurements of

supplementary irrigation alone or with nitrogen were higher than under rainfed conditions. Nitrogen at all tested rates increased the grain area of triticale under supplementary irrigation, compared to the same treatments under rainfed conditions. Supplementary irrigation alone significantly increased the grain area and grain length and width in comparison to all nitrogen treatments under both irrigation systems. Results showed that supplementary irrigation alone or with NPK resulted in higher plant biomass and yield (quantity and quality) than other nitrogen fertilizers under rainfed conditions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
ABSTRACT	2
ILLUSTRATIONS	8
TABLES	11
ABBREVIATIONS	15
INTRODUCTION	17
LITERATURE REVIEW	20
2.1. Triticale	20
2.1.1 Historical overview	20
2.1.2 Classification	23
2.1.3. Importance of triticale in the world	24
2.1.4. Uses of triticale	25
2.1.5. Nutritional value	
2.1.6. Yield	29
2.1.7. Cost and economical value	30
2.1.8 Triticale growth and development	31
2.1.9 Weather conditions	31
2.1.10. Soil conditions	32
2.1.11. Triticale cultivation	32
2.1.12. Seed preparation and rate	33
2.1.13 Sowing preparation	34
2.1.14. Triticale pests	35
2.2. Plant nutrition requirement & nitrogen fertilization	36

2.2.1. Nutrition requirements overview	
2.2.2. Nitrogen overview	37
2.2.3. Nitrogen fertilizer application	40
2.2.4. Impact of nitrogen deficiency on triticale	42
2.2.5. Impact of nitrogen excess on triticale	43
2.3. Water requirement	44
2.3.1. Soil moisture	45
2.3.2. Cultivating triticale under rainfed conditions	45
2.3.3. Cultivating triticale under supplemental irrigation system conditions	47
2.4. Grain content	47
2.4.1. Comparison between NIRS technique and wet chemistry for analyzin content of agricultural products	ng grain 48
2.4.2. Impact of fertilization program on the grain content of triticale	50
2.4.3. Impact of Watering systems on the grain content of triticale	50
2.5. Grain morphology	51
MATERIALS AND METHODS	34
3.1. Soil analysis	54
3.2. Sources of triticale seeds	54
3.3. Types of chemical fertilizers	55
3.4. Experimental description	55
3.5. Experimental design	55
3.6. Land preparation	57
3.7. Sowing triticale seeds	58
3.8. Nitrogen fertilization treatments	60
3.9. Irrigation system	62

3.9.1. Estimating soil moisture	62
3.9.2. Supplemental irrigation system	65
3.10. Data collection	67
3.11. Grain content analysis	72
3.12. Grain morphology measurements	73
3.13. Statistical analysis	74
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	75
4.1. Soil analysis	75
4.2 Irrigation applications	76
4.3 Data collection	77
4.4 Results and discussions	78
4.4.1 Effect on plant height, fresh weight, and dry weight	78
4.4.2 Effect on grain weight	
4.4.3 Effect on grain weight regardless of the treatments of fertilization	
4.4.4 Effect on spike weight and spike number per square meter	
4.4.5 Effect on hay dry weight	92
4.4.6 Effect on grain content	94
4.4.7 Effect on grain morphology	107
SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATIO	ONS
	117
5.1 Summary	117
5.2 Conclusion	117
5.3 Recommendation	117

CHAPTER 6	119
APPENDIX	119
6.1 Tables of data results	119
6.1.1Effect on plant height, fresh weight, and dry weight	119
6.1.3 Effect on grain weight regardless of the treatments of fertilization	
6.1.4 Effect on spike weight and spike number per square meter	
6.1.5 Effect on dry hay weight per square meter	
6.1.6 Effect on grain content	
6.1.7 Effect on grain morphology	
6.2 Syntax code of SPSS	136
BIBLIOGRAPHY	137

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure

1.	Google earth view of AREC	. 19
2.	Head (ear) shapes of durum wheat (left), triticale, rye (right)	.22
3.	Grains of (A) common wheat, (B) durum wheat, (C) triticale and (D) cereal r	ye .23
4.	Measuring seed rate/area	.34
5.	Triticale grain yield and straw dry-matter response to nitrogen levels under drought conditions in Morocco	.41
6.	Field map description	.56
7.	Primary tillage with a moldboard plow	.58
8.	Planting triticale with agricultural grain drill	. 59
9.	Rolling the field after sowing with a Cambridge Roller	.60
10	. Accumulative precipitation of rain for two years	.63
11.	. Accumulative precipitation of rain before and after crop planting date	.64
12	. Sprinkler, main line, and lateral line distribution chart	.66
13	. Cutting ears of triticale	.68
14	. The collected spikes	. 69
15	. Agricultural thresher machine	.70
16	. Seed cleaner machine	.71
17.	. Seed counter machine	.72
18	. Seed scanner	.73
19.	Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (100 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)	.82
20.	Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)	.82
21	Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (225 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)	.83

22. Average of fresh weight (g) of triticale) under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) ± SE, (n= 80 plants)
23. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (100 DAP) ± SE, (n= 80 plants)
24. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) ± SE, (n=80 plants)
25. Average of dry weight of triticale regardless the watering system after (100 DAP) ± SE, (n= 160 plants)
26. Average of grain weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4 m ²)88
27. Average of thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n= 4,000 seeds)
28. Average of spike weight (g) of triticale per square meter, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n= 4 m ²)91
29. Average of spike number of triticale per square meter, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4 m ²)91
 30. Average of hay dry weight (g) of triticale stem per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4 m²)93
31. Average of grain protein content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)95
32. Average of grain starch content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE (n=4,000 seeds)97
 33. Average of grain crude fiber content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE (n=4,000 seeds)
34. Average of grain ash content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)101
35. Average of grain fat content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)103
36. Average of grain moisture (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)106
37. Average of grain area (mm ²) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)109
38. Average of grain perimeter (mm) of triticale, (n=1000 seed ×4 replicates) ± SE, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems
39. Average of grain length (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)113

40. Average of grain width (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=1000 seed ×4 replicates)......115

TABLES

Tal	ble
1.	Taxonomical classification of triticale
2.	Major triticale growing countries in the world in 2019
3.	Methane yield that was derived from many crops
4.	Comparative constitution of triticale, maize, and wheat grain
5.	Average grain yield for winter wheat and triticale in six regions of Poland31
6.	Most common nitrogen fertilizer products
7.	Nitrogen requirements for cereal crops at different combinations of yield and grain protein at maturity, and the corresponding N required at anthesis
8.	Influence of different soil nitrogen content for two triticale breeding form for many traits
9.	Comparison of grain yield between barely, wheat, and triticale
10.	Details of the analysis and methods used
11.	Mean results of nutritive components (g/kg) by using NIRS technique and wet chemistry methods
12.	Different protein ratios under different combined N+P levels for different crops cultivars
13.	Mean squares of hundred-grain weight and grain length and width of rice 53
14.	Treatments and their corresponding replicates
15.	Nitrogen requirements for cereal crops at various combinations of yield
16.	Fertilizers treatments and their rates
17.	The ratios of the soil moisture by mass in different depths, and in different dates and irrigation dates after planting
18.	Information that was related soil moisture at depth 30cm and 50cm, precipitation, and other parameters resulting in accounting soil moisture by mass
19.	Summary of soil analysis results76
20.	Ratio of nitrogen-nitrate and total nitrogen in the soil76
21.	Nutrient range in soils, mg/kg76

22. Summary data of precipitation from rain (R) and supplemental (S) irrigation system
23. Summary data of precipitation (mm) from rain (R) and supplemental (S) irrigation days after planting (DAP)
24. Summary data collection combined with date and quantity of precipitation from the rain and supplemental irrigation system
25. Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n= 80 plants)119
26. Average plant height (cm) of triticale regardless the watering system after (100 DAP) ± SE, (n=160 plants)
27. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=80 plants)120
28. Average of dry weight of triticale (g) regardless of the watering system at first data collection ± SE, (n=160 plants)120
29. Average of fresh weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) ± SE, (n=80 plants)121
30. Average of grain weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4 m ²)121
31. Average of thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed ® and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
32. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale for one-dunum and one-hectare under supplemental (S) irrigation system
33. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale for one-dunum and one-hectare under rainfed (R) conditions
34. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems regardless of nitrogen fertilizer applications
35. Average of spike weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n= 4 m ²)124
36. Average of spike number of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4 m ²)125
 37. Average of dry hay weight (g) of triticale stem per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4 m²)125
38. Average of grain protein content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems ± SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
39. Average of grain starch content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and

40.	Comparison between protein and starch grain content of triticale under rainfed and supplemental irrigations systems
41.	Average of grain crude fiber content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)127
42.	Average of grain ash content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
43.	Average of grain fat content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
44.	Average of grain moisture (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)128
45.	Average of grain area (mm ²) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)129
46.	Average of grain area (mm^2) and grain weight (g) per m ² of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m ²), respectively
47.	Average of grain area (mm ²) and thousand grain weight (g) of triticale, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds)130
48.	Datasets from previous experiments reporting average grain weight and grain area of wheat
49.	Average of grain perimeter (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
50.	Average of grain perimeter (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m ²), respectively
51.	Average of grain perimeter (mm) and thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds)132
52.	Average of grain length (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)
53.	Average of grain length (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2) , respectively
54.	Average of grain length (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2) , respectively
55.	Range of kernel shape of Ethiopian durum wheat
56.	Average of grain width (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)134

57.	Average of grain width (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2) , respectively
58.	Average of grain width (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds and 4 m^2), respectively
59.	Comparison of grain measurements and thousand grain weight under three cultivation treatments

ABBREVIATIONS

&	And
°C	Degrees Celsius
\$	Dollar
/	Per
%	Percentage of Hundred
>	Greater than
<	Less than
α	Alpha (significant level)
#	Number
ai	Active Ingredient
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
	of the United Nations
MENA	Middle Fast/North Africa
AUB	American University of Beirut
AREC	Advancing Research Enabling
hite	Communities Center
EVES	Example of Agricultural and Ecod
I'AI'S	Sciences
Mha	Sciences Million besteres
	Million nectares
	International Maize and wheat
1 /1	Improvement Center
ng/na	Hectogram per hectare =100 gram/
	10,000m ²
Mtons	10 million or mega tons of oil
	equivalent
t/ha	Tonnes per hectare
Kg/ha	Kilograms per hectare
€/ha	Euro per hectare
pH	potential of hydrogen
EC	Electrical conductivity
dsm	Decisiemens per meter
NH ₃	Synthetic ammonia
HNO ₃	Nitric Acid
NH4NO3	Ammonium nitrate
(NH4)2SO4	Ammonium sulfate
NPK	nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and
	potassium (K)
$\mathrm{NH_4^+}$	Ammonium
NO ₃	Nitrate
CH ₄ N ₂ O	Urea
р	P- value
ADF	Acid detergent fiber
NDF	Neutral detergent fiber
NIRS	Near-infrared spectroscopy
СР	crude protein
N	Nitrogen
- 1	

Р	Phosphorous
m	meter
cm	centimeter
mm	millimeter
CaCO ₃	Calcium carbonate
LEAF	Laboratories for the Environment,
	Agriculture, and Food
М	mole
KCl	Potassium chloride
RCBD	Randomized complete block design
Control	Without addition any fertilizer
NPK	nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and
	potassium (K) 100 kg/ha
N-40	Granular nitrogen fertilizer 40 kg/ha
N-80	Granular nitrogen fertilizer 80 kg/ha
N-120	Granular nitrogen fertilizer 120
	kg/ha
N-160	Granular nitrogen fertilizer 160
	kg/ha
N-200	Granular nitrogen fertilizer 200
1, 200	kg/ha
m ³ /hr	Cubic meter per hour
"	One inch = 19 mm
3x	3 times
ICARDA	International Center for Agricultural
	Research in the Dry Areas
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
SE	Standard error
n	Sample size
uS/cm	Micro-second per centimeter
DAP	Days After Planting
mσ/kσ	Milligram per kilogram
nnm	Part per million
R	Rainfed conditions
S	Supplementary irrigation
mm^2	Square millimeter
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dS/m	Deci Siemens per meter
du	Dunum
et al	et alia (means "and others")
et ui.	et cetera (means "and so forth")
ha	Hectore
na a	Grom
S V	Otalli Dotassium
N V a	
ng	Nilogram
1	Liter

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

According to the World Bank, food production must increase by 70% to feed the world. This is a major challenge considering water paucity and the sustainability of resources. Climate change and global warming, as evidenced by variable precipitation and frequent droughts, will further impact water availability and crop productivity. Changes in climate that reduce precipitation will have catastrophic effects on food security. One of the most affected areas in the country is the Beqaa region, host the most significant agricultural activity in Lebanon. Accordingly, it is imperative that we introduce new grain crops that are adapted to climate change and contribute to the sustainability of rural livelihoods and environmental sustainability, especially in semi-arid regions. One of the most promising crops is triticale.

Triticale (*x Triticosecale Wittmack*) is a man-made hybrid, a cross of female parent wheat (*Triticum* spp.) and male parent rye (*Secale cereale* L). It combines favorable traits from both crops such as growth and vigor, cold tolerance, and high protein (Gupta & Priyadarshan, 1982), but with has a greater drought, saline, and disease resistance than wheat and rye. Both forage and grain types of triticale are grown, but it is primarily used as a feed for animals (Myer *et al.*, 2004; Naeem *et al.*, 2002). There is a misconception that triticale does not contribute to food security. It is true that triticale as human food is still minor, but it is widely used as animal feed. The importance of triticale is the ability to adapt to multiple biotic and abiotic stresses and could be planted in marginal lands as a resilient rainfed crop. It's grown in over 40 countries around the world. According to FAO (2019), the main producer countries of triticale is Poland, Germany, France, China, and Belarus. While only Algeria and Tunisia are the main

producers in the MENA region. According to our knowledge, triticale is not grown in Lebanon.

Water and nitrogen are the most limiting resources for grain production in the MENA region. Both resources are overused in arable lands, and they are no longer sustainable. Rainfall patterns are changing across the world, and for MENA region, droughts will be more frequent and severe. Accordingly, irrigation water will be highly needed than before to maintain production. The Begaa plain is the leading county for rainfed cereal production in Lebanon. It is located in a semi-arid region where mean rainfall does not exceed 500 mm/year during the winter season. The past decade has seen a substantial decrease in precipitation: records reveal that the region's heavily exploited groundwater has suffered an alarming decline of 15-20 meters in groundwater levels over the last five years alone. In addition, nearly half of the Beqaa plain lacks sustainable water sources for irrigation. Another critical challenge is the threat to water quality from the excessive use of agrochemicals such as nitrogen. Many studies showed that proper application of nitrogen is an important indicator of the environmental impact on the production of triticale. The goals of this study is to test the impact of nitrogen fertilization at various rates on triticale growth under supplementary and rainfed conditions as well their impact on the yield of grain and protein and its composition in winter triticale grain. We believe that triticale has a potential to displace certain rainfed crops in Lebanon and could be an inspiring option as a crop capable of withstanding erratic climates and increasingly marginal soils. The work described herein was conducted at the Advancing Research Enabling Communities Center (AREC) in the Bequa plain at the American University of Beirut, Lebanon (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Google earth view of AREC



CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Triticale

2.1.1 Historical overview

Triticale (\times *Triticosecale Wittmack*) is the first successful human-made cereal grain in the world (Figure 2 & Figure 3). A cross between durum wheat and rye, getting half its name from each parental genus. Triticale was developed by crossing male parent rye (Secale cereale) and female parent wheat (Triticum spp.) by Wilson in Scotland 1876. The goal was to produce a new crop that combines the high yield potential and good grain quality of wheat (Baking quality) and the resistance/tolerance to the biotic and abiotic factors of rye including adaptability to poor soils, drought, cold hardiness, disease resistance, and low-input requirements of rye. Wilson (1875) produced sterile triticale because there were dysfunctional pollen grains. After that, the German breeder Rimpau (1891) reported the developed the first triticale. However, it was till the 1970s when the first commercially triticale variety was released in Europe. Triticale variants show amphiploidy regarding wheat (AABBDD) and rye (RR) genomes (Ammar et al., 2004). Stable tetraploid, 20 hexaploid (AABBR/D), and octoploid (AABBDDRR) triticale cultivars had been bred. Primary triticale cultivars are produced by fertilizing hexaploid wheat plants with diploid rye pollen. Triticale cultivars are classified by the conditions required to progress from the vegetative to reproductive state: winter triticale cultivars need cold treatment while spring triticale cultivars do not, and facultative triticale cultivars have intermediary cold treatment needs (Salmon et al., 2004).

Naturally occurring hybrids of wheat and rye were first recorded at the Agricultural Experimental Station in Saratov, Russia, all being male sterile in 1918. This gave Meister and his group (1921) rich raw material (thousands of plants) to start with an extensive botanical, cytological and agronomical categorization of wheat-rye hybrids between 1918 and 1934. Studies of the wheat-rye hybrid resumed by Oehler (1935) in Germany and Muntzing (1936) in Sweden. It was till 1950s when the Hungarian plant breeders succeeded in producing the first commercially available cultivars of triticale No. 57 and Triticale No. 64. Yet, both verities were commercially released in 1968. In 1969, around 40,000 ha of Hungarian lands were planted with triticale (Ammar et al., 2004). Today triticale is grown on over 3 Mha worldwide in 27 countries (FAO, 2019). The International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) is considered one of the leaders in triticale research and improvement. Funded by Rockefeller foundation and Canadian government, CIMMYT established a joint triticale breeding program with the University of Manitoba in 1971. The aim of this program was to produce a new crop that gives higher yield than barley, wheat and oat. The first significant discovery appeared with the establishment of a new line called Armadillo. This line made a significant contribution to triticale improvement worldwide. It was the first triticale recognized to have a 2D (2R) chromosome substitution (D-genome chromosome substitution for the respective R homeologue). The crop was over-valued to farmers as a 'miracle crop' because of powerful improvements in triticale germplasm (Wolff, 1976). By the end of 1980s, data from international yield trials exhibited that completed hexaploid triticale (AABBRR genomic representation) was agronomically excellent to 2D(2R) substituted hexaploid types, especially under marginal growing conditions. Therefore, triticale germplasm at CIMMYT was gradually changed towards complete R genome types to be

adapted for the marginal conditions better than before (Mergoum *et al.*, 2004). According to CIMMYT there are over 200 cultivars in the world. Today, CIMMYT has been regarded as a principal supplier of improved spring triticale germplasm for many national agricultural research systems globally (Mergoum *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 2. Head (spike) shapes of durum wheat (left), triticale, rye (right)

Source: (Morrison & Wrigley, 2004)



Figure 3. Grains of (A) common wheat, (B) durum wheat, (C) triticale and (D) cereal rye

Source: (Morrison & Wrigley, 2004)

2.1.2 Classification

Triticale belongs to subtribe Triticaneae of the tribe Triticeae. The current-name of triticale emanated from the parental genera's scientific name, which was used by the Austrian agronomist *Erich Tschermak von Seysenegg*. Williams (1995), and Morrison and Wrigley (2004) declared the taxonomic classification of triticale is shown in Table 1.

Taxonomic Ranks	Name
Kingdom	Plant
Family	Grass family (Poaceae)
Subfamily	Poideae
Tribe	Triticeae
Subtribe	Triticanea
Genus and species	x Triticosecale sp

Table 1. Taxonomical classification of triticale

2.1.3. Importance of triticale in the world

According to FAO (2019), Poland, China, Germany, France, and Belarus are by far the world's largest producers and exporters of forage triticale (Table 2). There is also a significant production in Canada and United States. In the MENA region, triticale is well established in Tunisia and Algeria, and it is at the introduction phase in other African or Middle Eastern countries. The average grain yield is around 3.6 t/ha (FAO, 2019). In Lebanon, triticale crop is not a common crop. Yet, one study by (Saha *et al.*, 1982) revealed that varieties IAKLA, CAL, 14920 and Drira-461are among the 42 varieties that were tested and could be grown in Lebanon.

Country	Area harvested (ha)	Average Yield	Average yield
		(hg/ha)*	(ton/ha)
Poland	1314790	34212	3.4212
Belarus	453887	28871	2.8871
Germany	358200	61276	6.1276
France	305220	53780	5.378
Spain	250780	23924	2.3924
China	193787	20873	2.0873
Russia	135649	26236	2.6236
Turkey	64093	33559	3.3559
Belgium	6060	66122	6.6122
Tunisia	13000	23846	2.3846
Algeria	30	20667	2.0667

Table 2. Major triticale growing countries in the world in 2019

hg/ha= Hectogram per hectare = $100 \text{ gram} / 10,000 \text{m}^2$

2.1.4. Uses of triticale

The uses of triticale are largely mediated by its nutritional composition that is similar to wheat than rye.

2.1.4.1. Triticale for human consumption

The utilization of triticale as human food is still ambiguous; it is not used in baking industry at the international level. Although triticale contains lass gluten than wheat flour, triticale dough has more stickiness than wheat dough. Tests showed that triticale dough absorbed less water, had shorter development times, was less tolerant to mixing and had lower dough strength than wheat-based doughs. Thus, it should be mixed with wheat flour to make bread and pastries. However, triticale varieties with soft grain textures are suitable for making wafers, biscuits, cakes, and muffins (Tiefenbacher, 2017). Currently, it is widely used a forage crop for livestock Consumption since it is rich in protein and lysine than wheat.

2.1.4.2. Triticale for animal consumption

Triticale is primarily used as livestock and poultry feed in various forms such as grain, forage, silage, hay and straw. It approximately equal importance to other cereal crops in the nutrition of livestock. Triticale is fundamentally an energy source, having moderate protein content with a high ratio of starch and other carbohydrates, supplying livestock animals with great energy content. Regarding energy value, triticale is higher than barley in animal feed rations and equal to or better than wheat or maize in pig and poultry diets. In dairy feeding, triticale is considered a superior forage crop comparing with barely because it has high, quickly metabolized energy, tastiness, and ease of milling (Jondreville *et al.*, 2007). It is currently used as poultry feed due to high phosphorus concentration which reduces the need for mineral supplementation and consequently leads to lower phosphorus excretion by the birds (Jondreville *et al.*, 2007).

2.1.4.2.1. Nutrient composition of triticale forage

Keles *et al.* (2016) found that nutrient content, especially amino acid levels, and digestibility are the major factors that should be examined when selecting a triticale cultivar for use as animal feed. Triticale is better than rye and barely, but it is lower than wheat and oat concerning the nutritional value of forage. Triticale as a feed supply for ruminants has been investigated. Lema *et al.*, (2007) found that winter triticale for meat goats was superior to fescue both in forage quality and nutrient content, as well as ability to promote live weight gain of goat. Keles *et al.*, (2016) evaluated the nutritional value of triticale forage for lambs. The results proved that the nutritional value of the cereal forages was different at the various stages of triticale development during the growing levels. The favorite feed base regarding lambs was in the early vegetative stage. Hence,

the researchers concluded that the cereal species at the growth stage, which is coming after ear emergence and before the milk stage, are not valuable forage feeds because these cereals have low nutritive quality.

2.1.4.3. Triticale for biofuels

Biofuels that are produced from organic matter are a possible alternative green fuel. The first-generation biofuels such as bioethanol produced from cereals is the most commonly used liquid biofuel (Demirbas, 2007). Any biological substance that contains enough sugar (such as glucose or fructose) or carbohydrates (e.g., cellulose or starch) can become a source for the manufacture of ethanol. Due to the high starch content in cereal grain, triticale is considered a viable bioethanol feedstock. Starch is converted to simple sugars by saccharification. The saccharification is done by adding an enzyme suitable for the processes or through the inherent endogenous enzyme activity of the grain (Rosenberger, 2002).

2.1.4.4. Triticale for biogas

Renewable fuel and electric energy production depend on anaerobic digestion technology. In Europe, in late 2011, the production of primary energy from biogas exceeded 10 million or mega tons of oil equivalent (Mtons) per year, with an increment of approximately 20% compared to 2009 (EurObserv, 2012). Many studies compared the cost of triticale for biogas compared to many crops and concluded that triticale for biogas production had been economically feasible. For instance, Markou *et al.* (2017) found that there is a high methane yield derived from triticale (Table 3) and the cost of biogas production from triticale is cheaper than other crops.

Energy Crop	CH_4 (m ³ /ha)
Triticale	3500
Maize	5300
Alfalfa	3000
Sunflower	2600
Clover	2100
Barley	1400
Wheat	1400

Table 3. Methane yield that was derived from many crops

2.1.5. Nutritional value

2.1.5.1. Nutrient composition of triticale grain

According to (Barneveld & Cooper, 2002; Choct & Hughes, 1999; Council, 1998, 2000; Gursoy & Yilmaz, 2002; Myer *et al.*, 1990; Radecki & Miller, 1990) the ratio of crude protein, lysine, crude fiber, acid detergent fiber, and neutral detergent fiber in the triticale grain is more than in both grains of corn and wheat (Table 4). The concentration of crude fat, calcium, and phosphorous are equal to the grain of wheat; besides, all these concentrations are larger than corn. In general protein and lysine in triticale are greater than wheat and rye protein. Metabolizable energy in hogs and poultry recorded 3200 kcal/kg, and this food energy is lower than others, while it is the same percentage in these three crops, as is clear in this table. Also, total digestible nutrients for ruminants (%) are approximately equal in triticale, maize, and wheat.

Item	Triticale	Maize	Wheat
Crude protein (%)	12.00	8.50	11.50
Lysin (%)	0.40	0.24	0.34
Crude fibre (%)	2.8	2.2	2.4
Acid detergent fibre (%)	3.8	2.8	3.5
Neutral detergent fibre (%)	12.7	9.6	11.00
Crude fat (%)	1.80	3.80	1.80
Calcium (%)	0.05	0.02	0.05
Phosphorous (%)	0.33	0.25	0.33
Metabolize energy in pigs (kcal/kg)	3,200	3,350	3,350
Metabolize energy in beef cattle (kcal/kg)	3,180	3,180	3,180
Metabolize energy in poultry (kcal/kg)	3,200	3,400	3,210
Total digestible nutrients for ruminants (%)	79.00	80.00	79.00

Table 4. Comparative Constitution of triticale, maize, and wheat grain

2.1.6. Yield

The grain yield of triticale differs between areas, soil types, cultivars and growing season. Grain yield varies between 1 t/ha in lower rainfall areas and areas with soil fertility problems, while it reaches more than 7 t/ha in higher rainfall areas with good fertile soil. In general, the average grain yield of triticale is close to 2.5 t/ha (Mergoum & Macpherson, 2004). Triticale could be cultivated on different soil types and responds well to the nitrogen level in the soil. In other words, it is suitable for areas where high manure and nitrogen fertilizers are applied regularly (Banaszak & Marciniak; Green, 2002). Regarding the Middle Eastern countries, triticale yield reached 2.15 t/ha in Iraq (Ali *et al.*, 2021), while hay yield varied among countries. For instance, in Turkey it is between 12.77 t/ha to 18.68 t/ha. To get a higher yield than wheat, Bassu *et al.* (2011) recommended that farmers should consider planting an early vigor variety with more extended spike-formation phase along with improved remobilization of carbohydrates to the grain and more elevated transpiration use efficiency. Whish (2013) recommended the Australian farmers to consider the following tips before planting triticale to reach the maximize yield:

1. Studying triticale water requirement

2- Analyzing soil water ratio

3- Thinking about any risk may the farmers will suffer from it

4- Considering the fitting of this crop in the farms. Besides, considering the longer-term benefits to the system will outweigh any short-term losses or will not.

2.1.7. Cost and economical value

Calculating the cost and profitability of triticale depends on its uses and the cost and income from planting triticale. Kadakoglu *et al.* (2021) analyzed triticale production in 53 farms in Turkey in 2019, he concluded that triticale is highly profitable crop. Also in Ethiopia, Chanie (2014) found that triticale is more profitable than wheat and barley. That might be due to tolerance of triticale to various abiotic harsh conditions such as cold and droughts.

Regarding producing bioethanol fuel from triticale, many studies have proved that triticale is feasible economically. For instance, Denčić *et al.* (2012); (Salmon *et al.*, 2004) compared the cost of triticale with maize and wheat for producing bioethanol per production unit. The result showed that triticale was the lowest than maize and wheat in terms of cost. The total cost of producing 5.6 t/ha of grain yield of triticale was 499.0 \notin /ha, while the cost of producing 5.36 t/ha of grain yield of wheat and 7.92 t/ha of grain yield of maize was 535.67 \notin /ha and 674.36 \notin /ha, respectively.

2.1.8 Triticale growth and development

The primary advantages of triticale over cereal crops are (1) the ability to perform well on marginal lands, (2) a drought tolerant, (3) higher yield than wheat, (4) has superior digestible energy and crude protein levels and highly resistant to rust and smut.

2.1.9 Weather conditions

Triticale is winter hardy and tolerant of drought and widely adapted to various weather conditions. Many experiments were done in different regions to specify the best weather conditions for its growth. It was found that triticale grows well under rainfed conditions throughout different places in the world (Salmon *et al.*, 2004). For instance, Derejko *et al.* (2021) examined triticale growth under different regions in Poland and under different growing seasons, they found that triticale is adapted to the temperate environment, and its yield is more steady and less dependent on the weather conditions than that of winter wheat (Table 5). The grain yield of winter wheat was between 9.22 and 15.72 t/ha while it was between 9.24 and 14.82 t/ha for triticale.

Species	Region	2011	2012	2013	2014
-			t/]	ha	
Wheat	1	13.52	10.40	13.90	15.72
	2	13.45	13.24	12.53	14.44
	3	11.35	10.76	13.39	14.70
	4	12.10	10.57	11.59	13.42
	5	13.61	11.48	10.97	14.65
	6	12.47	11.53	9.22	12.52
Triticale	1	10.93	11.42	12.33	12.88
	2	12.98	12.00	11.79	14.48
	3	10.07	9.08	11.33	11.80
	4	10.87	10.18	9.81	11.90
	5	12.06	12.10	9.87	12.95
	6	11.07	11.41	9.24	12.71

Table 5. Average grain yield for winter wheat and triticale in six regions of Poland

Note. Italic type = minimum yield; bold type = maximum yield.

2.1.10. Soil conditions

Triticale grown well in all soils including light soil, marginal lands, waterlogged soils and those of high pH. Many researchers found that triticale is very responsive to phosphorus and nitrogen. Modern triticale cultivars have good aluminum tolerance, which becomes increasingly available in acidic soils, and have good efficiency for accessing major nutrients (e.g., phosphorus) and trace elements (manganese, copper, zinc) in alkaline soils, which have a rare ratio of them (Pena, 2004). Besides, under marginal land conditions, where abiotic stresses associated with soil conditions (extreme pH levels, salinity, toxicity, or deficiency of elements) are the limiting factors for grain production, modern triticale cultivars have always shown their advantages and have exceeded other crops (Mergoum *et al.*, 1992). Richards *et al.* (1987) concluded that barely and triticale were more tolerant than wheat to drought in marginal lands and light soil. Akgün *et al.* (2011) found that triticale could be grown in high saline soil with an EC of 25 dsm⁻¹.

Triticale found to be tolerant to low soil pH and soils high in boron and aluminum (Chanie, 2014). Soil with high aluminum (Al) ratio critically limits growth of various crops in over 1.6 billion hectares globally. Kim *et al.* (2002) found that advanced triticale lines (AABBRR) revealed the highest degree of aluminum tolerance of all the triticale types and exceeded the observed levels in the rye.

2.1.11. Triticale cultivation

The cultivation of triticale varies between developed and developing countries and depends partly upon the availability of technology and cost. Other factors include the type of the soil and the amount of rain precipitation. Annual rainfall of 250 mm is considered the minimum. Triticale can be grown in soil less fertile than that required for wheat.

2.1.12. Seed preparation and rate

Various types of plowing tools could be used to render the soil more suitable for planting. Selection of equipment is mediated by various factors among them is the climate, the nature of the soil, and the rainfall. In general seedbed preparation for winter triticale parallel those of winter wheat and fall rye. Field operations should be completed by late summer.

Regarding seed rate, the desired density for triticale is 180 plants per m² or more depending on the seed size this equates to a seeding rate of 75 to 100 kg per hectare. Higher plant density should be adopted if sowing is delayed or when sowing on light sandy soils. Calculating sowing rate of triticale depends on the target plant density, germination percentage, seed size and establishment, as shown in Figure 4 (Matthews *et al.*, 2021).
Figure 4. *Measuring seed rate/area*



2.1.13 Sowing preparation

2.1.13.1 Sowing date

Sowing time has a great effect on the quality of triticale and differs between areas or regions, in general triticale is planted between September to October. Schwarte *et al.* (2005) identified sowing dates for winter triticale that would maximize nitrogen capture and dry matter yield in Iowa, USA. He found that delayed planting increased the production of dry matter. While early planting (September), triticale accumulated more nitrogen than October-planted triticale. Sowing time has also been examined in the central Appalachian Highland, USA (Clapham & Fedders, 2008). September-sown triticale yielded the highest dry matter than the October-sown triticale. Thus, it was concluded that year of sowing, month of sowing, month of harvest and interactions has a significant effect on dry matter yield. Ahmed and Ali (2015) reported that crop physiology and phenology rely on the sowing date in the rainfed areas. Therefore, the sowing date affects the biological parameters and grain yield. El-Metwally *et al.* (2012) found that the delayed sowing decreased grain yield by around 30%. Takahashi and Nakaseko (1993) indicated that sowing dates impacted alterations in assimilates availability during different phenological phases of the crop. Subsequently, that impacted the yield. As mentioned above, it has been clear that there are various sowing dates among countries. However, triticale seedlings must be subjected to vernalization, and thus early seeding is recommended.

2.1.13.2. Sowing depth

The depth of triticale seeds is more profound than other small cereals due to their massive size. Triticale cultivars are different in seed placement during the sowing process. In Australia, if triticale cultivars are planted at a depth of no more than 2.45 cm, the crop will be seen with uniform seedling emergence and early weed competition (Mergoum & Macpherson, 2004).

2.1.14. Triticale pests

2.1.14.1. Pathogens

The occurrence and spread of plant pathogens response to the development of new crop species and their related agro-ecosystems. The relatively recent introduction of triticale in cropping systems raised growing area, along with the general use of genetically uniform varieties, supplies a perfect case study for disease occurrence and spread. Since triticale's commercialization in the late 1970s, triticale has improved to be resistant to most cereal diseases. Unfortunately, this situation has changed in the last period, as several fungal pathogens have adapted to this recently introduced host (Oettler & Schmid, 2000; Pojmaj & Pojmaj, 1998; Schinkel, 2002). Overall, Audenaert *et al.* (2014) introduced that the vast majority of diseases that affect triticale are: Powdery mildew, leaf and stem rust and Fusarium head blight.

2.1.14.2. Insect

Studies showed that triticale varieties are attacked by a few insect pests (Mergoum & Macpherson, 2004). Most insects that affect triticale are grasshoppers, aphids, armyworms and cutworms. Controlling these insects are the same as for other cereal crops.

2.1.14.3. Weeds

Weed management in triticale is similar to that for cereal grains. Good soil fertility combined with planting certified seeds and vigorous germination/emergence is perhaps one of the most effective methods against weeds. Early planting and quick establishment will help triticale to stand and stave off early weed pressure. Most common weeds in cereals crops in Lebanon are: *Anthemis hyaline, Avena* spp., *Capsella bursa-pastoris, Diplotaxis spp, Lamium amplexicaule, Lolium spp, Sinapis arvensis and Veronica polita.*

2.2. Plant nutrition requirement & nitrogen fertilization

2.2.1. Nutrition requirements overview

Triticale has similar nutritional requirements to wheat and responds well to most fertilizers. Generally, phosphorous and nitrogen are the most influential elements that affect triticale growth and yield. Triticale has similar phosphorus and nitrogen requirements as wheat. Many scientists indicated that triticale respond better to the most applied compound fertilizers than other crops in low nutrient soils. Triticale can utilize trace elements in soils that are considered low for any crop. Also, triticale has an extensive root system and can excavation the soil more efficiently than other cereals. Besides, to get a high yield and significant size grain biomass than wheat, farmers should increase the rate of nitrogen and phosphorus (Tshewang *et al.*, 2011). A good yield triticale requires phosphorous and nitrogen at sowing and more nitrogen application during the growing season.

2.2.2. Nitrogen overview

Nitrogen has been considered the most needed for triticale growth (Ladoni *et al.*, 2015).

2.2.2.1. Nitrogen use efficiency

Nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) is the efficiency of the soil nitrate when it is changed into grain nitrogen ratio. Many factors decrease this efficiency, like seasonal conditions, crop diseases, and nitrogen losses from the soil as gases, nitrogen leaching, or immobilization of nitrogen into organic forms. The sources of nitrate in soil are organic and inorganic fertilizers, crop residuals, manure, and organic matter. Optimizing nitrogen use efficiency needs to understand the importance of stable nitrogen in the soil organic matter, farmers should be careful about how much of each source there is, and of course, soil testing before planting to know these nitrogen sources. Thus, nitrogen rates are adjusted according to the size of the crop canopy (Schwenke *et al.*, 2013).

2.2.2.2. Nitrogen stress

Nitrogen deficiency stress occurs when the nitrogen level in the soil falls below the sub-millimolar range. Hence, that leads to nitrogen starvation. However, the precise threshold varies based on the plant, duration of exposure, soil type, organic matter content, microbial activity, cropping methods, and environmental conditions (Jangam & Raghuram, 2015). Nitrogen stress is caused by extreme fluctuations in the soil nitrogen level or due to the formation of nitroso compounds in the plant as a consequence of other stresses" (Jangam & Raghuram, 2015). The nitrifying bacteria break down organic nitrogen sources (manures/urea), converting them into inorganic compounds such as nitrates and ammonium salts. The response of plants to nitrogen availability depend on both genotype and the interaction of genotype with nitrogen supply level (Chardon *et al.*, 2010; Gallais & Hirel, 2004). For instance, plants respond to nitrogen starvation or deficiency by changes like an increase in the root to shoot ratio or by supporting lateral root growth or inhibiting shoot growth or early senescence of leaves (Marschner, 1995).

2.2.2.3. Nitrogen fertilizers overview

The most common nitrogenous fertilizers are synthetic ammonia, nitric acid, ammonium nitrate and urea. The purpose of producing synthetic ammonia and nitric acid is to use them as intermediates in ammonium nitrate and urea fertilizers. The following list shows the most common nitrogenous fertilizers, while Table 6 gives information about the product characterization summary of nitrogenous fertilizers.

- Ammonia liquor
- Ammonium sulfate
- Anhydrous ammonia
- Aqua ammonia

- Fertilizers, mixed, produced in nitrogenous fertilizer plants
- Fertilizers, natural
- Nitric acid
- Nitrogen fertilizer solutions
- Plant foods, mixed in nitrogenous fertilizer plants
- Urea.

Nitrogenous Fertilizer Products	Profile
Synthetic ammonia (NH ₃)	It has been made from natural gas. In other words, natural gas molecules are changed to carbon and hydrogen. Therefore, the hydrogen is purified and reacted with nitrogen to make ammonia. The USA used approximately 75% of the synthetic ammonia as a fertilizer, either directly as ammonia or indirectly after ammonia synthesis into urea, ammonium nitrate, and mono ammonium or diammonium phosphates. The fertilizer nitrogen ratio was applied directly to the land as anhydrous ammonia close to 35%.
Nitric Acid (HNO ₃)	It is made by concentration, absorption, and oxidation of anhydrous ammonia. Approximately seven-tenth of the nitric acid produced is utilized as an intermediate in making ammonium nitrate (NH4NO3), primarily used in fertilizers.
Ammonium nitrate (NH4NO3)	It results from a chemical combination of nitric acid with ammonia. About 15–20% of ammonium nitrate is utilized for explosives and the balance for fertilizer. Many ammoniums nitrate forms in the markets; it depends on its use. Liquid ammonium nitrate is perhaps marketed as a fertilizer because it commonly combines with urea. The general form shapes of

Table 6. Most common nitrogen fertilizer products

	Solid ammonium nitrate as prills because low-density could be utilized as fertilizer making and explosive manufacturing.
Urea (CH4N2O)	It is additionally known as carbamide or carbonyl diamide, produced by the neutralization of ammonia with carbon dioxide. 85% of urea solution manufactured is utilized in fertilizer combinations. The most solid urea forms are consumed as fertilizer or protein supplement in animal feed and plastics production.
Ammonium sulfate (NH4)2SO4	It is not economically feasible to manufacture ammonium sulfate for use as a fertilizer.
NPK	It consists of a mixture of ammonium sulfate (NH4) ₂ SO ₄ , superphosphate CaH ₄ P ₂ O ₈ , and muriate of potash KCl, which provide N, P, and K, respectively. The NPK fertilizers have many forms, such as an NPK compound 13-13-21, which means that the percentage of N: P2O5: K2O in the compound is 13% N, 13% P2O5, and 21% K2O. Furtherly, NPK combinations are 10-15-20, 15-15- 15, 12-12-17, 12-12-20. Combinations of N and P, N and K, and N and K are also made and available in the markets. NPK fertilizer has been regarded as complex fertilizer granules, which has many positive traits like being free-flowing, resistant to physical damage and moisture, and easy to handle.

Adapted Source: (Cheremisinoff & E. Rosenfeld, 2011; Scherer, 2005)

2.2.3. Nitrogen fertilizer application

According to various studies, it was found that nitrogen application is crucial for the growth and development of triticale in particular to the grain yield and dry matter under drought conditions (Figure 5). The time of application of nitrogen fertilizer depends on three factors: growth stage, targeted grain yield and the targeted ratio of grain protein, as shown in Table 7. For instance, if the targeted grain yield is 4 t/ha at 12%, the sufficient nitrogen fertilizer will be 112 kg/ha at the maturity stage and 90 kg/ha at the anthesis stage. However, splitting and delaying applications could be helpful strategies to manage growth yield and grain protein concentration under irrigated system. However, it not advisable to use this strategy under low rainfall conditions (i.e., when average target yields are 1.5 t/ha or less). Therefore, adding the first application of nitrogen fertilizer should be at planting and the second application during the growing season to satisfy the nitrogen requirement for plants (McDonald & Hooper, 2013).

Figure 5. Triticale grain yield and straw dry-matter response to nitrogen levels under drought conditions in Morocco



Grain	Growth		Gr	ain Protein (%)	
Yield (t /ha)	Stage	9	10	11	12	13
			ŀ	Kg N/ha		
1	Maturity	21	23	26	28	30
	Anthesis	17	19	21	22	24
2	Maturity	42	47	51	56	61
	Anthesis	34	37	41	45	49
3	Maturity	63	70	77	84	91
	Anthesis	51	56	62	67	73
4	Maturity	84	94	103	112	122
	Anthesis	67	75	82	90	97
5	Maturity	105	117	129	140	152
	Anthesis	84	94	103	112	122
6	Maturity	126	140	145	168	182
	Anthesis	101	112	124	135	146

Table 7. Nitrogen requirements for cereal crops at different combinations of yield and
grain protein at maturity, and the corresponding N required at anthesis

2.2.4. Impact of nitrogen deficiency on triticale

The role of nitrogen is essential for the growth of plants. The shortage of nitrogen affects the weight and number of shoots. Besides, it also represents the photosynthesis process because the ratio of chlorophyll differs in different ratios of nitrogen in the soil. Grzesiak *et al.* (2018) experimented two varieties of triticale (CHD -12 and CHD-247) to various nitrogen levels. They concluded that the root growth of triticale significantly increased with increasing the soil's nitrogen content. In soil low in nitrogen, triticale become underdeveloped and leaves were yellow. The color of triticale leaves changed from yellow to brown-necrosis when triticale suffered from a shortage of nitrogen. Another mark of nitrogen deficiency appeared in the variance of the total root length and total root number between these different nitrogen levels (Table 8).

	Triticale breeding form			Triticale breeding form		
Traits	Poor in	Control	, High in	Poor in	$\frac{CIID-2+7}{Control}$) High in
114105	nitrogen	control	nitrogen	nitrogen	control	nitrogen
	content		content	content		content
Shoot weight (g/plant)	3.53	3.37	4.22	2.88	3.04	3.88
Roots weight (g/plant)	1.93	1.88	2.31	1.72	1.79	2.43
Shoots/Roots (rel.	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.6	1.7	1.6
units)						
Chlorophyll Content	7.52	9.65	12.32	6.96	8.55	10.19
(rel. units)						
Total root number (no	69.6	56.5	84.0	78.0	49.2	83.7
plants ⁻¹)						
Total root length (cm	102.9	81.1	123.3	116.5	73.3	124.3
plants ⁻¹)						

 Table 8. Influence of different soil nitrogen content for two triticale breeding form for many traits

Source: Adapted from (Grzesiak et al., 2018)

2.2.5. Impact of nitrogen excess on triticale

Nitrogen fertilization found to improve the yield and protein content of various crops. However, applying excessive amounts of nitrogen fertilization under certain conditions such as drought, frost, temperature, herbicide, etc. enhanced the accumulation of nitrate (NO₃⁻) in plants and lead to their death (Fresneau *et al.*, 2007; Nešić *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 1999). High nitrogen concentration is not common in well-managed soil because of microbial decomposition, surface runoff, and volatilization, or leaching. Wang *et al.* (2008) found that application of urea at 100 kg/ha of urea fertilizer did not affect triticale growth. This rate had been regarded as over-fertilizing, but the symptoms of excessive nitrogen did not appear. In general, urea-degrading enzymes by microorganisms break down urea quickly in the soil (Watson *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, urea concentrations in natural environments (i.e. lakes or agricultural soils) are low, so urea concentrations often are <70 μ M in agricultural soils (Becker-Ritt *et al.*, 2007).

Gulmezoglu *et al.* (2010) experimented with the impact of different rates of nitrate on triticale. The experiment was conducted under dryland field conditions for two years by applying control, low and high nitrogen fertilization rates (0, 40, 80 and 160 kg/ha). The results showed a positive relationship between the nitrate content of forage and the high nitrogen application rates in both two years. The results of this experiment appeared that the accumulated nitrate amount in the triticale cultivars was different based on the growing year, the stages of the forage sampling, and the application rates on nitrogen fertilization.

2.3. Water requirement

Triticale has been considered a perfect crop to be grown under drought conditions and water stress. A 24-year study was conducted for wheat and barley and a 15-year study for triticale in Poland found that these crops cereals needed between 293 and 314 mm of soil water during the growing season (Martyniak, 2008). Triticale gave the highest grain yield compared to all these cereals. The average grain yield of triticale reached 1.65 t/ha, whereas the average grain yield of wheat and barley reached 0.87 t/ha and 0.73 t/ha, respectively (Table 9). It seems that triticale has some drought tolerance because it has early vigor stemming from its rye heritage. In Australia, triticale is better than wheat and barley regarding the adaptability of drought stress (Jessop, 1996).

Species	Mean of Grain Yield (t/ha)
Barely	5.07
Wheat	5.16
Triticale	5.30

Table 9. Comparison of grain yield between barely, wheat, and triticale

2.3.1. Soil moisture

It is well documented that soil moisture affects seed germination and seedling emergence of various crops (White & Edwards, 2008). In general, triticale needs an annual average rainfall between 300-900 mm per season under rainfed conditions. Thus, supplemental irrigation in arid conditions is required (Cooper *et al.*, 2004).

2.3.2. Cultivating triticale under rainfed conditions

Rainfed agriculture covers 80% of the world's cultivated land and contributes about 60% to the total crop production. Low crop productivity in various arid and semiarid rainfed agricultural systems is often due to degraded soil fertility, low rainfall, high evaporation and limited nutrients input (UNESCO, 2009). In Lebanon, rainfed cereals accounts for over 60% of the arable land and about 40% of Lebanon's population depends on rainfed agriculture. With rising concerns over water availability and the high cost of irrigation, rainfed agriculture is gaining increased attention. Thus, there are various options for increasing "crop yield per drop," such as introducing triticale to Lebanon.

Triticale is mainly grown under rainfed conditions all over the world. Schillinger and Archer (2020) compared winter triticale with winter wheat in the dry Mediterranean climate in the United States of America for nine years. The minimum precipitation level was 256mm in 2014, and the maximum precipitation level was 440mm in 2017. Over the nine years, the researchers could produce 14% and 24% more grain yield of winter triticale than winter wheat, respectively. The range of winter triticale grain yield was from 4.4 to 7.4 t/ha with an average of 5.8 t/ha, whereas the average grain yield of winter wheat was 5.1 t/ha.

Planting triticale thrived well under rainfed conditions throughout the world and excels when produced with good soil fertility and irrigation (Mergoum & Macpherson, 2004). It is cultivated in areas with an annual average rainfall of between 300 mm and 900 mm (Cooper *et al.*, 2004). Lopez-Castaneda and Richards (1994) compared planting triticale with barley, wheat and oat to know the highest grain yield and total biomass of these crops under rainfed conditions. The results showed that barley and triticale achieved a greater leaf area and dry mass faster than the wheat and oat. However, barley grain yield and total biomass than bread wheat, durum wheat and oats.

Regarding the analysis of triticale seed planted under rainfed conditions, Sirat *et al.* (2022) reported that the average contents of triticale seeds collected from plants growing for 2 years under rainfed conditions were, protein 10.56-12.09%, starch 64.74-68.19%, moisture 9.44-9.72%, ash 1.25-1.60%, oil 0.79-1.27%, ADF (acid detergent fiber) 3.22-4.39%, NDF (neutral detergent fiber) 15.14-16.88%, potassium 0.432-0.527%, magnesium 0.113-0.135%, and phosphorus 0.360-0.387%. On the other hand, Maresma *et al.* (2021) compared eight winter species (barley, Italian ryegrass, oats, oats plus vetch, triticale and wheat) grown under irrigated Mediterranean conditions. Results showed that triticale recorded the highest yields, but the forage quality parameters showed low protein content and digestibility and high acid detergent fiber and neutral detergent fiber values compared with the other varieties.

2.3.3. Cultivating triticale under supplemental irrigation system conditions

Drought stress in triticale is generally better than other crops. Ekiz *et al.* (1998) found that irrigation could increase both shoot zinc content of different cereal cultivars. Another study was conducted in Iran by Barati *et al.*, (2020) to specify the best nitrogen application and watering system regimes associated with planting triticale. The nitrogen application included Azospirillum brasilense (Biofertilizer), Azospirillum brasilense+75 kg N/ha, 150 kg N/ha, and control. The watering system regime included normal irrigation, irrigation cut off after the anthesis stage, and rainfed treatment in the second year. Results showed that the highest grain yield (6.25 t/ha) was obtained by nitrogen fertilizer at 150 kg/ha under normal irrigation. While Bio+N75 gave the highest grain yield compared with other nitrogen sources under irrigation (4.4 t/ha) and rainfed conditions (2.96 t/ha) (Barati *et al.*, 2020).

Regarding the times and dates of supplemental irrigations that should be done, Sarkar and Paul (2000) suggested that if there is just single irrigation that farmers can do, it should be applied at the boot stage of the wheat crop. Moreover, if the farmers could apply second irrigation, it should be applied at the crown root initiation of the same crop. If three irrigations can be applied, the water should be applied at 50% booting, 50% flowering, and 50% grain formation stages. Thakur *et al.* (2000) reported that if wheat received four irrigations at crown root initiation, maximum tillering, boot, and milk stages led to maximum grain and straw yields of wheat.

2.4. Grain content

The nutritional value of forage crops accounted for two-thirds or more of the cost of livestock production, and the quality of these crops is a key to increasing performance

and decreasing the environmental impact of livestock production (Millet *et al.*, 2018). Analysis of the nutrient ingredient of forage crops, which comprises analysis of protein, fat, and fiber, and benefitting from this information to correct for variances in composition lead to taking an overview of the nutritional value of these crops (Henry *et al.*, 1988; Just *et al.*, 1984; Noblet & Perez, 1993). In our experiment, the analysis of grain content of triticale was done by using NIRS (near-infrared spectroscopy) machine to study the impact of different nitrogen fertilizer applications and watering systems on the grain content. Therefore, this part shows three points, which are:

2.4.1. Comparison between NIRS technique and wet chemistry for analyzing grain content of agricultural products

Norris (1996) reported that near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) was widely employed to estimate the nutritive quality of agricultural products for many decades. For this reason, NIRS can indicate the physical and chemical properties of the forage crops, like the content of crude protein (CP), amino acids, acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral detergent fiber (NDF), and starch (Barton 1991; Campo *et al.*, 2013; Williams & Cordeiro, 1979). Wet chemistry has been utilized to analyze forage crop value. However, researchers and many analytical laboratories have changed their methods from wet chemistry analysis methods to near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) to estimate forage crop value because wet chemistry takes a long time combined with that is expensive and unsafe sometimes. The second reason for changing the analysis of nutritive feed value by relying on wet chemistry to the NIRS technique is that NIRS showed good consistency for all the measurement parameters compared to wet chemistry. As a result, there is a strong correlation and similarity between the analysis results of the nutritional value of forage crops, whether using traditional wet chemistry or the NIRS technique (Harris *et al.*, 2018; Safiqur *et al.*, 2021). Harris *et al.* (2018) explained which chemistry method was used to analyze feed nutritive value relying on wet chemistry and analyzed nutritional components (Table 10). Moreover, the researchers showed the analysis results of both wet chemistry and NIRS, as provided in Table 11. The results of both methods had clear consistency and strong correlation.

Nutritive components	NIRS	Wet chemistry
Crude protein	Own method	Kjeldahl destruction, NEN-ISO 5983-2
Crude fat	Own method	Extraction using petroleum ether gravimetric detection of the fat faction. NEN- ISO 6492
Crude fiber	Own method	Extraction using diluted sulfuric acid and sodium hydroxide—gravimetric detection of the organic matter. NEN-EN-ISO 6865
Neutral detergent fiber	Own method	Extraction using an ND solution and amylase— gravimetric detection of the organic matter. NEN- EN-ISO 16472:2006
Sugar	Own method	Luff-Schoorl. Extraction using water/ethanol (40/60) photometric detection using neocuprin color reagent. EC Regulation 152/2009; NEN-EN-ISO 6498:2012

Table 10. Details of the analysis and methods used

Nutritive components	NIRS mean results	Wet chemistry results
Crude protein	71.2	68.8
Crude fat	18.8	16.6
Crude fiber	324	329
Neutral detergent fiber	619	627
Sugar	106	102

Table 11. Mean results of nutritive components (g/kg) by using NIRS technique and wet chemistry methods

2.4.2. Impact of fertilization program on the grain content of triticale

Many studies showed that fertilizers had a significant effect on the grain contents of cereals. Moinuddin and Afridi (1997) experimented nine nitrogen and phosphorous rates on grain protein of four cultivars of triticale, wheat and rye. Results showed that the protein content increased with increasing the composition of fertilizers up to 200N+ 40P kg/ha, as is presented in Table 12.

Cultivar		Combined N+P fertilizer levels (kg/ha)							
	180	190	200	230	240	250	280	290	300
Triticale1	9.8	11.1	10.8	11.6	12.8	12.6	12.3	13.4	11.4
Triticale2	10.9	11.6	12.1	12.4	13.3	12.7	12.7	13.0	12.8
Triticale3	7.9	8.9	9.6	11.3	12.8	12.8	12.8	12.0	11.8
Triticale4	12.1	13.7	13.9	15.1	16.7	15.9	16.0	15.4	15.7
Wheat	10.7	11.6	12.1	12.7	13.8	13.0	12.6	12.8	12.6
Rye	10.7	12.3	12.5	13.1	13.9	13.0	12.4	12.8	12.7

 Table 12. Different protein ratios under different combined N+P levels for different crops cultivars

Source: Adapted from (Moinuddin & Afridi, 1997)

2.4.3. Impact of Watering systems on the grain content of triticale

Water deficit is the most influential factor affecting crop growth and development. Since water resources in arid and semi-arid areas are very scarce, many experiments were conducted to study the impact of water on the grain content of triticale. For instance, Saed-Moucheshi *et al.* (2019) estimated the protein content of wheat under normal irrigation and drought stress conditions in Iran. They found that under normal irrigation, the protein ratio was 15.1, 12.8, and 15.6, respectively, while under drought conditions, it was 35.4, 34.0, and 35.7 respectively. Fernandez *et al.* (2000) reported an inverse relationship regarding carbohydrates and protein accumulation under non-stress conditions. This may be due to the competition between nitrogen and carbohydrates for energy and carbon skeletons. It is similar to a delay in leaf-protein hydrolysis to keep the photosynthetic rate affected by the high demand of assimilates by growing grains. It was concluded that the protein ratio was higher under drought stress conditions. Silva *et al.* (2020) experimented with the response of protein and ash ratio of common bean, triticale, and wheat to water stress by applying different water regimes. The result showed that there was no significant difference between the ratios of protein and ash under different irrigation regimes.

2.5. Grain morphology

Grain morphology is of interest in crop improvement because of its relationship to yield and quality (Ferrari *et al.*, 2021). One of the main features of the domestication syndrome in crops is a boost in grain size (Brown *et al.*, 2009; Fuller, 2007). Therefore, for some crop species like rice, where the domestication procedures included strong selection both for grain size and shape (Kovach *et al.*, 2007). The marketing assessment has focused on grain shape since it has influenced crop milling performance (e.g., flour quality and yield), especially the crops were utilized for baking bread like wheat and others. Optimizing grain shape and size combined with large and spherical grains was the prediction of theoretical models for increasing milling yield (Evers *et al.*, 1990). Average grain weight per area unit is related to the change in grain size traits because these changes could lead to an increase in competition during grain filling (Cartelle *et al.*, 2006; Labra *et al.*, 2017; Sakai & Sakai, 2005) or a decrease in the grain size measurements (Elia *et al.*, 2016; Slafer *et al.*, 2015).

In general, there is a little research about the watering system's impact on grain morphological traits of triticale. Nassir and Alawode (2016) experimented with studying the impact of genotype, environment, and the interaction between genotype and environment on the grain size measurements of rice under rainfed conditions in two sites in Nigeria. This experiment was conducted under two tropical rainforest ecology from 2001 to 2004. As a result, there was variation in the quantity of rain precipitation. Grain morphological characters and hundred-grain weight recorded significant genotype, environment, and genotype-by-environment interaction.

Table 13 shows the mean squares of grain shape size (grain length and width) and hundred-grain weight of rice that responded to the impact of genotype, environment, and genotype \times environment. The highest mean square of hundred-grain weight and grain width resulted from the impact of the environment, 3.78 and 4.81g, respectively, while the impact of genotype was accounted for the first ranking regarding the grain length, 0.75 mm, and the second ranking regarding hundred-grain weight and grain width, 2.40 g and 0.75 mm, respectively. It seems that the different quantities of rain precipitation during the period of conducting this experiment led to be the most influential factor.

Source of Variation	Hundred grain	Grain length (mm)	Grain width (mm)
	weight (g)		
Genotype	2.40 **	1.09^{**}	0.75^{**}
Environment	3.78^{**}	0.88^{**}	4.81^{**}
Genotype \times	0.36**	0.72^{**}	0.16^{**}
Environment			

Table 13. Mean squares of hundred-grain weight and grain length and width of rice

** Significant at P < 0.01; Adapted source: (Nassir & Alawode, 2016)

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Two adjacent field experiments were conducted at the Advancing Research Enabling Communities Center (AREC) of the American University of Beirut during the fall 2020 and spring 2021 seasons. The AREC is located in the Northern Beqaa plain with an altitude of around 1000 m above sea level at 34° 54''N latitude and 36° 45''E longitude. The aim of both field experiments was to study the effect of nitrogen fertilizers on the growth and development of triticale under rainfed and supplementary irrigation

3.1. Soil analysis

Soil samples were collected at 30cm depth from different places in the field during soil bed preparation. Sampling at 30 cm depth is considered a common method practiced by farmers in the cultivated fields of Lebanon (Bashour & Sayegh, 2007). Analysis was done for soil texture, soil pH and EC, available phosphorous, available potassium, CaCO₃ %, and the ratio of nitrogen-nitrate and total nitrogen. Analysis was done according to Bashshūr and al-Ṣāyigh (2007), except for calculating the ratio of nitrogen-nitrate and total nitrogen, which were done in Laboratories for the Environment, Agriculture, and Food (LEAF).

3.2. Sources of triticale seeds

The variety of standard triticale seeds used in this experiment was "*De Mantillo*, *Italy origin*". Both the seeds and fertilizers were obtained from local agents.

3.3. Types of chemical fertilizers

Two inorganic fertilizers were used in both experiments:

- 1. Granular nitrogen fertilizer 40-0-0, made in China.
- 2. NPK 15:15:15, made in Vietnam.

3.4. Experimental description

Both experiments (Rainfed and supplementary irrigation) were conducted beside each other on an area of 1250 m²/each.

3.5. Experimental design

Experiments were conducted as a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replications/experiment (Figure 6). Blocks were separated by 2.5m aisles. Each experiment was divided into 28 plots per experiment. The area of each plot was $21m^2$ (6m length × 3.5m width). Each plot consisted of 22 rows, 15 cm between rows and 10cm within the row. The total area of each experiment was $588m^2$ (7 treatments × 4 replicates). Treatments and their plots or replicates are listed in Table 14.





N

106	206	306	406
	•		•
107	207	307	407

Treatment	Rate Kg/ha	Rate Kg Pure N/ha	Rep1	Rep2	Rep3	Rep4
Control	0	0	101*	207	302	404
NPK	100	15	102	206	303	401
Ν	40	16	103	205	301	407
Ν	80	32	104	204	306	403
Ν	120	48	105	203	307	402
Ν	160	64	106	202	304	405
Ν	200	80	107	201	305	406

Table 14. Treatments and their corresponding replicates

101*: 1 is block one and 01 is rep 1.

3.6. Land preparation

Seed bed of both fields were prepared with a squared moldboard plow followed by rotary tillage to break soil clods and to incorporate materials thoroughly into the soil. Both operations were done two weeks before sowing triticale seeds (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Primary tillage with a moldboard plow

3.7. Sowing triticale seeds

Thirty kilograms of triticale seeds were used for both experiments $(19.4g/m^2)$. The average triticale population was 12 plants/m² in both experiments. Seeds were planted on November 20, 2020, by grain drill which includes 24 furrow openers spaced 15 cm (Figure 8). Cambridge Roller was used after the sowing as exhibited in Figure 9.



Figure 8. *Planting triticale with agricultural grain drill*



Figure 9. Rolling the field after sowing with a Cambridge Roller

3.8. Nitrogen fertilization treatments

For both experiments, treatments included different rates of nitrogen and one rate of NPK. The first application included a single application of the whole amount of NPK (15:15:15) and 30% of the whole applications of nitrogen fertilizer. Both were applied as band application. A single application of NPK was used according to the standard crop management strategy used by farmers in the Beqaa plain. The second application included 70% of nitrogen fertilizers applied 102 DAP. The rate and application time of fertilizers were made according to the results of soil chemical analysis and upon the recommendation of our soil expert, Dr. Bashour. Many scientists found that splitting and delaying applications of nitrogen fertilizers are excellent strategies to enhance growth yield and grain protein concentration of crop cereals. It was found that the time of application of nitrogen fertilizers depends on growth stage, targeted grain yield and the targeted ratio of grain protein (Table 15). For instance, if the targeted grain yield is 4 t/ha at 12%, the needed nitrogen fertilizer will be 112 kg nitrogen/ha at the maturity growth stage and 90 kg nitogen/ha at the anthesis growth stage (Table 16).

a	nthesis					
Grain	Growth		Gr	ain Protein (%)	
Yield (t/ha)	Stage –	9	10	11	12	13
(t/lla)			K	Kg N/ha		
				8		
1	Maturity	21	23	26	28	30
	Anthesis	17	19	21	22	24
2	Maturity	42	47	51	56	61
	Anthesis	34	37	41	45	49
3	Maturity	63	70	77	84	91
	Anthesis	51	56	62	67	73
4	Maturity	84	94	103	112	122
	Anthesis	67	75	82	90	97
5	Maturity	105	117	129	140	152
	Anthesis	84	94	103	112	122
6	Maturity	126	140	145	168	182
	Anthesis	101	112	124	135	146

Table 15. Nitrogen requirements for cereal crops at various combinations of yieldand grain protein at maturity, and the corresponding nitrogen required atanthesis

Treatment	Rate Kg/ha	1 st Application at planting Kg/ha (30%)	Total rate g/Plot	2 nd Application after 100DAP Kg/ha (70%)	Total rate g/Plot
Control NPK	0 100	0 100*	0 210	0 0	0 0
Ν	40	12	25.2	28	58.8
Ν	80	24	50.4	56	117.6
Ν	120	36	75.6	84	176.4
Ν	160	48	100.8	112	235.2
Ν	200	60	126	140	294

Table 16. Fertilizers treatments and their rates

* NPK was applied as a single application at planting.

3.9. Irrigation system

Two irrigation systems were used in this study:

- 1. Zero irrigation (Rainfed conditions)
- 2. Supplemental irrigation.

3.9.1. Estimating soil moisture

Figure 10 shows the total precipitation of rain for 2020 and 2021. It has been clear that the total precipitation of rain in 2020 was more than 2021, 476 mm and 396.6 mm, respectively. Figure 11 shows the total precipitation of rain before crop planting date (between 1/9/2019 and 20/11/2020), and after crop planting date to the harvesting crop date (between 20/11/2020 and 5/7/2021).

Soil moisture was measured before and after each supplementary irrigation. Soil moisture by mass was calculated as shown below:

Soil Moisture by Mass% = $\frac{Water Weight}{Microwave Dry Weight} \times 100$

Table 17 gives information about the soil moisture at two depths (30 cm and 50 cm) during the growing season. Besides, it gives information about irrigation days after planting date and amount of precipitation by supplemental irrigation. Table 18 describes the information associated with soil moisture at two depths and many parameters used to account for the soil moisture by mass.



Figure 10. Accumulative precipitation of rain for two years



Figure 11. Accumulative precipitation of rain before and after crop planting date

Table 17. The ratios of the soil moisture by mass in different depths, and indifferent dates and irrigation dates after planting

Days After	Soil Moisture %	Soil Moisture %	Irrigation Days	Precipitation
Planting	(30cm depth)	(50cm depth)	After Planting	
DAP				
146	27.02	21.35		
148			148	51
153	28.90	25.27		
157			157	68
158	29.97	34.21		
159				
172			172	51
174	28.50	28.27		

Date of collected sample soil after planting date	Depth (cm)	Soil sample weight (g)	Microwave dry weight (g)	Water weight (g)	Soil Moisture by mass (%)
146	10	50.10	38.60	11.50	29.97
146	30	50.30	39.60	10.70	27.02
146	50	46.60	38.40	8.20	21.35
153	30	57.00	44.50	12.50	28.90
153	50	57.00	45.50	11.50	25.27
158	30	50.3	38.7	11.6	29.97
158	50	51.0	38.0	13.0	34.21
174	30	51.4	40.0	11.4	28.50
174	50	49.9	38.90	11.0	28.27

Table 18. Information that was related soil moisture at depth 30cm and 50cm,precipitation, and other parameters resulting in accounting soil moisture bymass

3.9.2. Supplemental irrigation system

The supplemental irrigation system was a fixed sprinkler system with a maximum flow rate of 1.9 m³/hr at a pressure of 3.8bar. At this pressure, each sprinkler precipitated 17mm of water/hr. The sprinkler type was Rain Bird 14070H ³/₄" (19mm) Full Circle, Brass Impact Sprinkler. Regarding lateral lines, they were four and the distance between them was 12m. Every line had three sprinklers with a total of twelve. Figure 12 shows the spatial arrangement of the sprinklers.



Figure 12. Sprinkler, main line, and lateral line distribution chart

3.10. Data collection

The collected data were crop density (the number of plants/ m^2), plant height (3) times), fresh weight, dry weight of the whole triticale plant including shoots (twice), spike number per m^2 , spike weight per m^2 , grain weight per m^2 , thousand-grain weight, hay dry weight per m^2 , and seed analysis (n=1000 seeds). The average number of plants/m² was 293. Spike number per m^2 was measured by using a 1x1m metal frame. Figure 13 & Figure 14 show how the spikes were cut and collected. Fresh and dry weight of shoots per m² was measured by cutting all the shoots from the soil surface. Shoots were placed in jute bags and air-dried for 30 days. The grain weight per m² was done by threshing the collected ears, whereas the thousand-grain weight was done after counting 1000 seeds. Both parameters were done with the generous help of *ICARDA* (International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas) in Lebanon. Ears were threshed by a wintersteiger thresher LD 350, as shown in Figure 15 and cleaned using Kim seeds Cleaner MK3, as shown in Figure 16. The clean seeds were weighed and recorded as (grain weight per m^2). Figure 17 shows the seed counter machine (Pfeuffer Contador).



Figure 13. Cutting spikes of triticale
Figure 14. *The collected spikes*





Figure 15. Agricultural thresher machine



Figure 16. Seed cleaner machine



Figure 17. Seed counter machine

3.11. Grain content analysis

Grain content analysis was done at the feeds and feeding lab at AUB under the supervision of Dr. Housam Shaib using *NIRS DS2500 at* the wavelength area of 400 – 2500 nm (*FOSS analytical solutions for food analysis and quality control*). The analysis included moisture, protein, fat, crude fiber, ash, and starch content of seeds.

3.12. Grain morphology measurements

The analysis included measuring morphological traits, which are: area, perimeter, major and minor axes of the best fit ellipse (length and width of seed) using specialized software from an image captured with consumer-level flatbed scanners in a robust in a standardized way. This analysis was done at ICARDA according to Whan *et al.* (2014) by using specialized seed scanner, as shown in Figure 18.



Figure 18. Seed scanner

3.13. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses for both experiments was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 25. Treatment means were compared using three-way ANOVA (analysis of variance) and Bonferroni test. Differences were considered significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. In other words, confidence level was 95%. The analysis was done by depending on syntax code of SPSS software under supervision of Dr. Samer Kharroubi.

CHAPTER4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter provides the overall analysis and results achieved in this study and it is divided into four parts. The first part includes the results of soil analysis, whereas the second part presents the supplemental irrigation program. The third part gives information about the chronic order of the data collection including the dates of applying supplemental irrigation and the last part provides the results and discussion of the collected data by analyzing and comparing them with previous studies related to this experiment.

4.1. Soil analysis

Table 19 and 20 show the soil analysis results and the ratio of nitrogen nitrate and total nitrogen, respectively. Analysis shows that the soil is heavy and rich with clay, calcium and other elements. According to Bashour (2001) the ratio of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in the tested soil is high (Table 21). Nitrate above 40 mg/kg in the soil is considered high. Also, phosphorous and potassium are considered high since their ratio is between 4-20 mg/kg and 250-450 mg/kg, respectively (Table 19).

Parameters	Results	
Clay (%)	53.64	
Sand (%)	9.33	
Silt (%)	37.0	
EC (μ S/cm)	245	
PH	7.36	
Total CaCO ₃ (%)	30.80	
Organic Matter (%)	3.97	
Available Potassium (mg/kg)	742 ppm =742 mg/kg	
Available Phosphorous (mg/kg)	20 ppm = 20 mg/kg	
Nitrogen-Nitrates	<50	
(Wet Weight) (mg/kg)		
Total Nitrogen (%)	0.16	
Sand (%) Silt (%) EC (µS/cm) PH Total CaCO ₃ (%) Organic Matter (%) Available Potassium (mg/kg) Available Phosphorous (mg/kg) Nitrogen-Nitrates (Wet Weight) (mg/kg) Total Nitrogen (%)	9.33 37.0 245 7.36 30.80 3.97 742 ppm =742 mg/kg 20 ppm = 20 mg/kg <50 0.16	

Table 19. Summary of soil analysis results

Table 20. Ratio of Nitrogen-Nitrate and total Nitrogen in the soil

Analysis	LOQ	Sample Result	Method
	(Minimum Limit of		
	Quantification)		
Nitrogen-Nitrates	50 mg/kg	<50 mg/kg	TC WI € M
(Wet Weight)			Spectrophotometer
			HACH 8039 M
Total Nitrogen (%)	0.05%	0.16%	ASTM E1019 M &
			Themofinnigan-
			High combustion

Table 21. Nutrient range in soils, mg/kg

Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very High
0-5	5-15	15-30	30-40	>40
0-3	3-8	8-14	4-20	>20
0-85	85-150	150-250	250-450	>450
	Very low 0-5 0-3 0-85	Very low Low 0-5 5-15 0-3 3-8 0-85 85-150	Very low Low Medium 0-5 5-15 15-30 0-3 3-8 8-14 0-85 85-150 150-250	Very lowLowMediumHigh0-55-1515-3030-400-33-88-144-200-8585-150150-250250-450

Adapted source: (Bashour, 2001)

4.2 Irrigation applications

According to the weather station at AREC, the sum of rain precipitation from 0 DAP to 255 DAP (harvesting) was 347.10 mm. Thus, the allocated field for supplemental irrigation received 170 mm above to 347.10 mm from the rain (Total of 517.10 mm).

Supplemental irrigation was carried out after 148, 157 and 172 DAP. Table 22 shows a summary information of the precipitation from both rain and supplemental irrigation system. Martyniak (2008) indicated that wheat, barley and triticale need between 293 and 314 mm of water during the growing season which is less or similar to the Beqaa plain.

Supplemental	DAP	R (mm)	S (mm)	Total of
irrigation				precipitation(mm)
				of supplementary
				irrigation and rain
S 1	148	346.60	51.00	397.60
S2	157	0.00	68.00	68
S 3	172	0.50	51.00	51.50
Total	172	347.10	170.00	517.10

 Table 22. Summary data of precipitation from rain I and supplemental (S) irrigation system

4.3 Data collection

The first data was collected after 90 DAP before the first application of supplemental irrigation. Therefore, the influential factor that effected on the first collected data was NPK and 30% of nitrogen fertilizer. The second data was collected after 157 DAP after the second application of nitrogen fertilizer (102 DAP) and after first and second supplemental irrigations (148 and 157 DAP) as shown in Table 23. Last data was collected after 215 DAP or at harvesting. Table 24 summarizes the data collection dates combined with date and quantity of precipitation from the rain and supplemental irrigation system.

S	DAP	R	S	Total
S1	148	346.60	51.00	397.60
S2	157	0.00	68.00	68.00
S 3	172	0.50	51.00	51.50
Total	172	347.10	170.00	517.10

Table 23. Summary data of precipitation (mm) from rain I and supplemental (S) irrigation days after planting (DAP)

 Table 24. Summary data collection combined with date and quantity of precipitation from the rain and supplemental irrigation system

DAP	R	S	Total
100	273.40	0	273.40
170	73.50	119.00	192.50
225	0.2	51.00	51.20
Total	347.10	170.00	517.10

4.4 Results and discussions

This part covers up the effect of various nitrogen rates under rain fed and supplementary irrigation on various growth parameters of triticale.

4.4.1 Effect on plant height, fresh weight, and dry weight

Nitrogen at all tested rates enhanced triticale plant height after 100 DAP in comparison to the control (Figure 19). Nitrogen at 160 kg/ha was the most effective treatment in enhancing the triticale height. It is worth mentioning that neither supplemental irrigation nor second application of nitrogen was applied before 100 DAP. The significance differences in crop height among nitrogen treatments in all the tested plots is unknown. There is a possibility that the soil is already rich with nitrogen or overfertilized.

Supplementary irrigation increased crop height compared to the rain fed regardless of NPK or nitrogen applications after 170 DAP (Figure 20). However, supplementary irrigation with nitrogen at rates above 120 kg/ha significantly enhanced crop height in comparison to the control. Addition of nitrogen (Except at 80 kg/ha) did enhance crop height in comparison to the control under rainfed conditions. Best sustainable results were obtained with a single application of NPK and nitrogen at 40kg/ha under both systems. Thus, farmers should be advised to add a single application of NPK at planting or sequential application of nitrogen at 40 kg/ha.

Nitrogen at all tested rates with or without supplementary irrigation had no significant effect on crop height in comparison to the control or to the NPK treatment after 225 DAP (Figure 21). There was a big variation among all treatments under both irrigation systems. Many researchers investigated the negative effect of excessive nitrogen fertilizers on many parameters of cereal crops. For example, Yu-kui *et al.* (2012) found an adverse relationship between over-fertilizing of nitrogen and plant height of corn. Similar results were obtained in this experiment that led to an insignificant difference among nitrogen treatments.

Supplementary irrigation alone or with nitrogen fertilizer increased fresh weight of triticale plants in comparison to the rain fed system 170 DAP (Figure 22). However, there was no significant differences among nitrogen treatments under supplementary irrigation. The highest average of fresh weight was observed with nitrogen at 40 kg/ha under both irrigation systems. Triticale average shoot fresh weight was 286.38 g and 295.88 g under rainfed and supplementary irrigation respectively.

80

The results of shoot dry weight after 100 and 170 DAP under rainfed and supplementary irrigation are shown in Figure 23 and 24, respectively. Supplementary irrigation alone increased the shoot dry weight of triticale in comparison to the rainfed treatments (Figure 23). Unlike under rainfed, addition of nitrogen at various rates did not increase the shoot dry weight. Best shoot dry weight was recorded in the control under supplementary irrigation.

Figure 25 shows that supplemental irrigation with or without nitrogen applications had no significant effect on shoot dry weight after 170 DAP in comparison to the control. Except for nitrogen treatments above 160 kg/ha, shoot dry weight under both supplementary irrigation and rain fed conditions were similar. Similar results were obtained under rainfed or supplementary conditions with nitrogen. Thus, irrigating at this time will have no added value on the crop and will be a waste of water and extra cost for the farmers. However, there was a significant difference in the dry weight under NPK under the rain fed conditions. Overall, the highest shoot dry weight was with NPK under rain fed (107.45 g) and nitrogen at 120 kg/ha under supplemental irrigation (97.98 g).

Our results are similar to studies conducted by Alagoz *et al.* (2021) which aimed to study the effects of water deficit on various phenological stages of triticale. They found that water stress reduced triticale plant dry weight by 24% at the heading stage, 33.5% at the flowering stage, and 12.3% at the kernel stage, while the highest dry weight was recorded under supplemental irrigation conditions. To sum up, according to previous studies, the water regime is the most influential factor on triticale growth compared to fertilizers (Barati *et al.*, 2020; Tas & Tas, 2007).

Results in figure 25 show that addition of nitrogen at all tested rates had no significant effect on triticale shoot dry weight under both irrigation systems after 100

DAP. Aciksoz *et al.* (2011) reported that application of nitrogen improved the total shoot dry weight by 42% and shoot iron content in wheat. Also, Tóth *et al.* (2021) found that a combination of low nitrogen and low phosphorous reduced tillers number, plant height, seeds number, fresh and dry weight of seeds in wheat.

Figure 19. Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (100 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)



Figure 20. Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)



Figure 21. Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (225 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)



Figure 22. Average of fresh weight (g) of triticale) under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) \pm SE, (n= 80 plants)



Figure 23. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (100 DAP) \pm SE, (n= 80 plants)



Figure 24. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)





Figure 25. Average of dry weight of triticale regardless the watering system after (100 DAP) $\pm SE$, (n= 160 plants)

4.4.2 Effect on grain weight

Results in Figure 26 show that the average grain weight of triticale under supplementary irrigation is higher than the rainfed regardless the addition of nitrogen fertilizer 225 DAP. Addition of nitrogen did not increase the grain weight of triticale in comparison to the control. Supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen at all tested rates had the same effect on grain weight. Thus, supplementary irrigation is important to enhance grain weight during the growing season of triticale. The significant positive impact of the supplementary irrigation had appeared in all nitrogen fertilization treatments (except N-120) under supplemental irrigation treatments versus the same treatments under rainfed conditions. On the flipped side, there is no significant difference between the nitrogen fertilization treatments under supplemental irrigation system. Also, the same situation had been noticed under rainfed conditions. Overall, supplementary irrigation alone (control) produced the highest grain weight, while N-120 treatment under the same conditions produced the lowest, 642.05 and 534.28 g, respectively. On the other side, under rainfed conditions, the highest average grain weight was recorded by NPK treatment, whereas the control treatment produced the lowest, 497.83 and 404.00 g, respectively. Estimating the grain weight of triticale per one dunum and one hectare under the same situation of this experiment is summarized in Table 32 and 33.

Same trend could be concluded if we compare the average of thousand grain weight (Figure 27) with the grain weight/area (Figure 26). Low rates of nitrogen treatments significantly increased the weight of thousand seeds under supplemental irrigation compared to the rainfed treatments. Supplementary irrigation alone (Control) increased the grain yield. Moreover, the average thousand-grain weight for the control, NPK, N-40 and N-80 under supplemental irrigation system were similar and significantly higher than N-160 and N-200 treatments. N-160 treatment recorded the lowest average thousand-grain weight under supplemental irrigation system and rainfed conditions, 25.20 and 25.45 g, respectively. Overall, the control treatment gave the highest average thousand-grain weight under supplemental irrigation system, while NPK treatment was superiors under rainfed conditions, 31.13 and 27.80 g, respectively. The reason for reducing the grain weight per m² and thousand-grain weight under rainfed conditions in this study compared to supplemental irrigation systems could be due to drought stress and high temperatures during the grain-filling period, as it often occurs in Mediterranean conditions (Oweis *et al.*, 2000).

Various researchers reported that supplementary irrigation was the most influential factor that affected the grain weight of cereals. For instance, Barati *et al.* (2020) found that supplementary irrigation with N-150 significantly increased grain weigh of triticale. It should be noted that both adjacent fields of this experiment were planted lentils in 2019. Thus, addition of nitrogen may not enhance grain yield more than the control since lentils is a nitrogen fixer. Furthermore, many scientists reported that over-fertilizing with nitrogen could lead to impairment in root growth and exudation (Deng *et al.*, 2014; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Teng *et al.*, 2013). Besides, many studies reported that nitrogen requirement in triticale is less than other cereal grains. For instance, Defra (2010) recommended that the nitrogen requirement for triticale should be around 150 kg/ha.

Figure 26. Average of grain weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, $(n = 4 m^2)$



Figure 27. Average of thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n= 4,000 seeds)



4.4.3 Effect on grain weight regardless of the treatments of fertilization

The grain weight in both the supplemental irrigation and rainfed conditions, regardless of the nitrogen treatments was 5816.33 kg and 4914.29 kg/ha, respectively (Table 34). Higher yield was obtained under supplementary than rainfed system. Supplementary irrigation enhanced the yield in comparison to the rainfed system regardless the nitrogen application. Mergoum and Macpherson (2004), reported that the average grain yield of triticale is around 2.5 t/ha under rainfed conditions and could be exceeded 7 t/ha under irrigated conditions (Fohner & Sierra, 2004). The grain yield of triticale differs among countries between less than 1 t/ha in lower rainfall poor soil and more than 7 t/ha in higher rainfall good soil. According to FAO (2019), the highest yield of 6.6122 t/ha was recorded in Belgium and the lowest yield of 1.285 ton/ha in Australia. In Africa, Tunisia and Algeria recorded the yield of 1.9527 t/ha and 2.0667 t/ha, respectively (Table 1).

Martyniak (2008) declared that triticale needs an average of between 300mm of water. Based on weather data at AREC, the sum of rain precipitation during the growing season of triticale was 347.10 mm. Thus, the water needed by triticale growth was sufficient during the growing season. Accordingly, high yield was obtained under rainfed conditions.

4.4.4 Effect on spike weight and spike number per square meter

Figure 28 shows that spike weight collected 225 DAP under supplementary irrigation with or without NPK or nitrogen fertilizers was higher than the rainfed system. Our statistical analysis showed that the different quantities of nitrogen fertilizer did not make a significant increase in spike weight in comparison to the control. Spike weight was slightly higher under nitrogen at 40 kg/ha under supplementary irrigation, comparing

to all other treatments. Addition of NPK and nitrogen at 40 to 160 kg/ha under rainfed conditions significantly increased spike weight in comparing to the control.

Figure 29 shows that all nitrogen treatments with or without supplementary irrigation did not increase spike number. Nitrogen at 120 kg/ha under the supplemental irrigation system and nitrogen at 80 kg/ha under rainfed conditions gave the highest spike number ranging between 503.75 and 526.50, respectively. Contrarily, control treatment under both supplemental irrigation system and rainfed conditions gave the lowest spike number, 443.00 and 446.25, respectively (Table 36 and Figure 29). Our observations were similar to those of Bielski *et al.* (2020), that spike number was higher under various rates of nitrogen fertilizer.

Figure 28. Average of spike weight (g) of triticale per square meter, under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n= 4 m²)



Figure 29. Average of spike number of tritical per square meter, under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, $(n = 4 m^2)$



4.4.5 Effect on hay dry weight

The effect of various rates of nitrogen on hay dry weight varies between supplementary irrigation and rain fed (Figure 30). Neither nitrogen treatments with or without supplementary irrigation, nor supplementary irrigation alone enhanced hay dry weight. No significant differences were found among hay dry weight between the nitrogen treatments under supplemental irrigation or rainfed conditions. Also, there is no significant difference between the nitrogen fertilization treatments under both irrigation systems. Nitrogen at 80 kg/ha gave the highest hay dry weight (855g) under rainfed conditions. On the other hand, the lowest hay dry weight under rainfed and supplemental irrigation conditions was recorded under NPK and the control treatments, 640 g and 697.50 g, respectively (Table 37 and Figure 30).

Many studies indicated that hay dry weight could be increased by nitrogen fertilizers. Grunow *et al.* (1970) indicated that "There cannot be any doubt that high nitrogen increases the nitrogen content of herbage and hay, but it must be borne in mind that differences in species composition play apart also". The same applied to the addition of water on hay production of *Lathyrus sativus* (Safi *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 30. Average of hay dry weight (g) of triticale stem per square meter under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, $(n = 4 m^2)$

4.4.6 Effect on grain content

4.4.6.1 Effect on grain protein content

Our analysis showed that nitrogen at all tested rates did not increase the grain protein content under rain fed condition while they did under supplementary irrigation in comparison to their respective controls (Figure 31 and Table 38). The most effective treatment that gave the highest grain protein content was recorded in the control under rainfed and with nitrogen at 160 kg/ha under supplementary irrigation. Both treatments increased grain protein content by around 13.20%. The reason of higher protein content under rainfed alone than the same treatment under supplemental irrigation could be related to the impact of water stress on the crop which could activated the movement of nitrogen from the leaves to the grains, leading to an increase in protein content in the grains (Souza *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 31. Average of grain protein content (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=4,000 seeds)

4.4.6.2 Effect on grain starch content

The grain starch content under supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen was higher than the rain fed treatments (Table 39 and Figure 32). Addition of nitrogen fertilizers did not enhance starch content in the grains under rain fed condition. Our results show a negative relationship between grain starch content and protein content under supplemental irrigation system, as summarized in Table 40, Figure 31 & 32. For example, control treatment under supplemental irrigation system accounted for the smallest ratio of grain protein content, while it recorded the highest grain starch ratio, 10.64 and 59.69 %, respectively. Our results also show a steady decrease of starch content combined with an increase in nitrogen rate application under supplemental irrigation system and vice versa for grain protein content. Regarding rainfed conditions, there could be a negative relationship between grain starch and protein content, but most treatments recorded a high ratio of grain protein content and a low ratio of starch content (Table 40, Figure 31 & 32).

Silva *et al.* (2020) indicated that carbohydrate content in the evaluated cultures showed variation in results concerning the water regime and differed inversely to the protein content. One of the most familiar symptoms of the impact of drought on the plant is the decrease in the grain starch content, which has been considered the primary form of carbohydrate storage in cereals (Thitisaksakul *et al.*, 2012). In most cases, low grain starch has been found to be associated with water stress, leading to a negative impact on photosynthesis as the availability of water is essential for it (Flagella *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 32. Average of grain starch content (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$ (n=4,000 seeds)

4.4.6.3 Effect on grain crude fiber content

The grain crude fiber content varied among treatments regardless supplementary irrigation (Figure 33 and Table 41). Addition of nitrogen and/or water did not significantly increase the grain crude fiber content. The grain crude fiber content under all nitrogen treatments under both supplementary irrigation and rainfed conditions recorded similar results. However, the highest recorded grain crude fiber content under the supplemental irrigation was in control and with nitrogen at 40 kg/ha treatments (same ratio 2.76%), while nitrogen at 160 kg/ha treatment was the lowest (2.71%). On the other hand, the highest recorded grain crude fiber conditions was by nitrogen at 200 kg/ha. Besides, it reduced milling yield, which is perhaps due to expanded fiber content and decreased kernel weight under such conditions.

Figure 33. Average of grain crude fiber content (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$ (n=4,000 seeds)



4.4.6.4 Effect on grain ash content

Supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen did not increase the grain ash content of grain in comparison to all rain fed treatments (Table 42 and Figure 34). All tested rates of nitrogen significantly increased the grain ash content under supplementary irrigation in compassion to the control. Nitrogen at 160 kg/ha gave the highest grain ash percentage under supplementary irrigation and rainfed conditions ranking, 1.76 and 1.75, respectively. Many studies showed that the ash content of triticale was higher under rainfed conditions than various irrigated systems. Also, it was noted that the ash content significantly decreases as nitrogen increases. For example, Barati and Bijanzadeh (2021) concluded that there was a significant decrease in grain ash of triticale as nitrogen increased to 150 kg/ha under various irrigation regimes.



Figure 34. Average of grain ash content (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

4.4.6.5 Effect on grain fat content

Our results show that the grain fat content was higher under supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen in comparison to all treatments under rainfed conditions (Figure 35 and Table 43). NPK, nitrogen at 40 and 80 kg/ha and the control significantly increased grain fat content under supplementary irrigation in comparison to the same treatments under rainfed. All these treatments increased the grain fat content. The highest grain fat percentage was observed in the control under supplementary irrigation. All rates of nitrogen had no significant effect on grain fat content in comparison to the control under the rainfed conditions. Increasing nitrogen did not increase grain fat content under rain fed conditions. Our results show an approximately gradual decrease of grain fat content combined with an increase in nitrogen rate under supplemental irrigation system. It was difficult to correlate a relationship between grain fat content and the increase of nitrogen rate due to the large variation among all treatments under rain fed conditions.



Figure 35. Average of grain fat content (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n= 4,000 seeds)

4.4.6.6 Effect on grain moisture content

Application of nitrogen at all tested rates increased the grain moisture content under rain fed, compared to the supplementary irrigation Figure 36 and Table 44). All tested rates of nitrogen did reduce the grain moisture content under supplementary irrigation in comparison to the rain fed treatments. Except for nitrogen at 120 kg/ha, the average moisture ratio for all treatments under both supplementary irrigation and rainfed conditions were similar and ranged between 10.63 and 10.98 %.

Seed moisture content has been considered a strong factor in the reduction of seed longevity during storage. Many studies indicated that high seed moisture content was the most significant factor affecting seed deterioration, hastening insect, and fungal infestation and thus it is considered the most important factors that mediate seed quality and seed shelf life (Afzal *et al.*, 2019). The grain moisture content of the most agronomic crop should not exceed 13% for long storage (Abass *et al.*, 2014). Higher grain moisture content combined with high temperature could be a suitable conditions for the multiplication and growth of microorganisms (McDonald, 2007). Our results show that the grain moisture content under of all treatments under rainfed and supplemental irrigation systems was below 11%.

According to various studies about the effect of different water regimes on the grain moisture content, and according to our knowledge, many of them did not present evidence that supplied irrigation could impact grain moisture content. For example, Karim *et al.* (2000) experimented with the response of the grain moisture content of wheat under rainfed and regular irrigated conditions. They concluded that water stress treatments did not affect the dynamics of grain moisture content.
Regarding the impact of different nitrogen fertilizers on the grain moisture content, few studies have reported the effect of nitrogen applications on the grain moisture content. Svečnjak *et al.* (2020) showed that the highest grain moisture content (45%) of Italian ryegrass was noted at nitrogen rate of 180 kg/ha. Grain moisture at nitrogen application at the rates of 120 and 180 kg /ha were 44% and 42%, respectively. Our results are consistent with the result of Zhang *et al.* (2021) who found that nitrogen application has a slight effect on grain moisture content of corn.

Figure 36. Average of grain moisture (%) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)



4.4.6.7 Correlation between the grain components

Our data results show a negative relationship between grain protein and starch content and a positive relationship between grain protein and fat content. This is in agreement which studies carried out by Janusauskaite et al. (2019). Svihus and Gullord (2002) supported evidence from previous observations of our experiment regarding the positive relationship between grain starch and fat content and the negative relationship between grain protein content and between the mentioned components. Also, there was a positive relationship between grain protein and moisture content and a positive relationship between grain protein and ash content.

Our results are consistent with studies done by Katyal *et al.* (2016); Müller *et al.* (2021); Samol *et al.* (2015); and Wahbi and Shaaban (2011).

4.4.7 Effect on grain morphology

Measurements of grain morphology was done at the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Area (ICARDA) in Lebanon using the Grainscan software (Whan *et al.*, 2014). Previous studies that relied on this method were not related to the impact of nitrogen applications and water regimes on triticale growth and development. Therefore, this is the first study that adopted this software to define the impact of different quantities of nitrogen fertilization and watering systems on the grain morphology of triticale. The morphological measurements include:

4.4.7.1 Grain area

Except for nitrogen treatment at 160 kg/ha, supplementary irrigation alone or with nitrogen at all tested rates increased the grain area of triticale in comparison to the same

treatments under rain fed (Figure 37 and Table 45). Supplementary irrigation alone significantly increased the grain area in comparison to all nitrogen treatments under rainfed or supplementary irrigation. Overall, the control treatment under supplemental irrigation system yielded the highest average grain area, whereas NPK yielded the highest under rainfed conditions, 15.52 and 14.74 mm², respectively.

Grain area is a better predictor of grain weight than length and width of grains (Kim *et al.*, 2021). In our study, it would appear that there is a positive relationship between grain area and grain weight of triticale. In other words, there is a positive relationship between grain area and both grain weight/area and thousand-grain weight of triticale (Table 46 & Table 47). For example, the grain area of control treatment under supplemental irrigation and rainfed systems was 15.52 and 14.46 mm², respectively. In comparison the grain weight/area and thousand grain weight under supplemental irrigation system were 642.05 g and 31.13 g, respectively, while they were 404.08 g and 26.48 g, respectively under rain fed.

Based on these results, we could conclude that grain area is a good indicator for estimating grain weight. The concept of predicting grain weight based on grain area has been investigated by many researchers. Table 48 provides information from three experiments about average grain weight and grain area of wheat (Brinton et al., 2017; Sanchez-Bragado et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018). It has been clear that the lowest range in average grain area had led to the lowest range in average grain weight, as reported by (Wang *et al.*, 2018). On the other hand, an increase in the range of average grain area led to an increase in grain weight, as provided by Sanchez-Bragado *et al.* (2020) and Brinton *et al.* (2017).

Figure 37. Average of grain area (mm^2) of triticale under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)



4.4.7.2Grain parameter

Except for introgen at 160 kg/ha, supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen at all tested rates increased the grain parameter in comparison to the same treatments under rainfed conditions (Table 49 and Figure 38). Nitrogen at 160 kg/ha under rainfed conditions was slightly higher than the same treatment under supplemental irrigation system, 20.89 and 20.37 mm, respectively. Table 50 and 51 show that the highest grain perimeter was under the supplemental irrigation system without nitrogen fertilizer or the control (21.59 mm). This treatment also recorded the highest grain weight and thousand-grain weight under the same water regime, 642.05 and 31.13 g, respectively. On the other side, NPK treatment was very effective in increasing grain parameter (21.27 mm), compared to all nitrogen fertilization treatments. It seems there is a positive relationship between grain weight and grain parameter under rainfed conditions. Grain weight was higher under rainfed condition compared to the same treatments under supplementary irrigation. Gao et al. (2021) showed a positive relationship between grain perimeter and grain weight in wheat. Their results show that when the average grain perimeter of wheat was 15.99 mm the average grain weight of wheat was 42.77 g.

Figure 38. Average of grain parameter (mm) of triticale, $(n=1000 \text{ seed } \times 4 \text{ replicates}) \pm SE$, under rainfed I and supplemental irrigation (S) systems



4.4.7.3 Grain length

Similar to the results of the grain parameters, supplementary irrigation with or without nitrogen (Except nitrogen at 160 kg/ha) enhanced grain length in compassion to the same treatments under rainfed conditions (Table 52 and Figure 39). Except for nitrogen at 160 kg/ha, all tested rates of nitrogen under both systems had no significant effect on grain length. The control treatment under the supplemental irrigation system is significantly higher than nitrogen at 160 kg/ha. These two treatments represent the highest and lowest average grain length under supplementary irrigation, 7.28 and 6.80 mm, respectively.

Our results showed that the highest average grain length led to the highest average grain weight and thousand grain weight under supplemental irrigation and rainfed systems (Table 53 and Table 54). Under supplemental irrigation system, control treatment recorded the highest average grain length (7.28 mm), leading to the highest average grain weight/area and thousand grain weight, 642.05 and 31.13 g, respectively. On the flipped side, the average grain length of both treatments NPK and nitrogen at 40 kg/ha under rainfed was 7.13 and 7.14 mm, respectively, leading to the highest average grain weight/area, 497.83 and 486.97g, respectively; Also, these treatments produced the highest average thousand grain weight 497.83 and 486.97g, respectively.

As a result, it is very likely to use grain length of grain as an indicator for the grain weight. Previous studies by (Alemu *et al.*, 2020) indicated a significant positive relationship between durum wheat grain length and grain width in Ethiopia (Table 55).

Figure 39. Average of grain length (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)



4.4.7.4 Grain width

Supplementary irrigation alone significantly increased the grain width in compassion to the rain fed condition (Table 56 and Figure 40). Addition of NPK or nitrogen at all tested rates did not significantly increase the grain width under both irrigation systems, compared to their respective controls. Both irrigation systems alone or with NPK gave the highest grain width.

Our results show the highest average grain width lead in most cases to the highest average grain weight under supplemental irrigation and rainfed systems, as presented in Table 57 and 58. Under supplemental irrigation system, the control treatment produced the highest grain weight and thousand-grain weight, 642.05 & 31.13 g, respectively. NPK treatment gave the highest grain width but did not produce the highest grain weight/area and thousand-grain weight, 635.75 and 31.05g, respectively (Figure 26 and 27). The highest average of grain weight (497.83 g) and thousand-grain weight (27.80 g) increased with NPK fertilizer under rainfed condition (Figure 26).

According to our results and to various previous studies, it is possibility to predict the production of grain weight by examining the grain width. For instance, Gegas *et al*. (2010) found a positive correlation between the grain size and shape and grain weight in wheat.

115



Figure 40. Average of grain width (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=1000 seed \times 4 replicates)

4.4.7.5 Overview of impact of nitrogen fertilization and watering system on grain size

Our results show that morphological measurements of supplementary irrigation alone or with nitrogen were higher than under rainfed conditions. Previous studies indicated that grain size increased when the crops were irrigated compared to the same crops planted under rain fed conditions. Qi-hua *et al.* (2014) showed that grain length, grain area, and grain perimeter of rice were significantly improved under irrigation system. Regarding the impact of nitrogen treatments on the grain morphological traits, our results presented here show that nitrogen did not increase the average of morphological grain traits in comparison to the control under supplemental irrigation.

Addition of nitrogen at various tested rates had no significant effect on various growth parameters under supplementary irrigation. There is a possibility that the soil is already rich with nitrogen or over-fertilized and thus had no significant effect on growth parameters. Besides, the land of the experiment was planted with lentils the year before this study. This may cause an increase in the nitrogen level in the soil. Zhang *et al.* (2013) found that nitrogen had no effect on the average grain measurements and thousand-grain weight under rain fed system (Table 59).

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary

This chapter presents the conclusion derived from this study which is to examine the effect of various rates of nitrogen fertilizers on growth parameters and yield quantity and quality of triticale under rainfed and supplementary irrigation. It also provides the recommendation that researchers and farmers can pursue.

5.2 Conclusion

It can be concluded from this study that the highest yield was obtained under supplementary irrigation alone. Supplementary irrigation alone is the most influential factor on triticale growth and yield quantity and quality compared to rainfed. Nitrogen at all tested levels have a minor effect on triticale yield under both irrigation systems. No significant differences between many of the tested nitrogen applications on yield quantity and quality of triticale. Supplementary irrigation alone could give higher biomass and yield quantity and better grain quality than other nitrogen fertilizers under rainfed conditions. The experiment proved the importance of planting legume crops prior to triticale as part of crop rotation. It showed that growing triticale after legume could save nitrogen fertilizers. This study could be a promising gate for the production of triticale in the Beqaa plain.

5.3 Recommendation

Based on these field studies it is recommended that:

- Soil analysis prior to planting triticale is required to specify the amount of nitrogen and the ratio of nutrients in the soil.
- Rotation with legumes must be considered whenever growers decided to introduce triticale in their cropping system.
- Sequential supplemental irrigation is highly recommended.
- This study should be repeated before a final recommendation to the potential triticale growers in the Beqaa plain can be made. Yet, it's recommended to add NPK at 100 kg/ha at planting under both irrigation systems.
- Further studies should be done to investigate the effect of different planting dates and varieties of triticale in order to identify the most reliable planting date and varieties in the Beqaa plain.
- Further studies should be done to investigate the effect of other nutrients on triticale growth under different locations in Lebanon and under both irrigation systems.

CHAPTER 6

APPENDIX

6.1 Tables of data results

6.1.1Effect on plant height, fresh weight, and dry weight

Table 25. Average of plant height (cm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n= 80 plants)

	100 E	DAP	170	DAP	225 I	DAP
Treatments	S	R	S	R	S	R
Control	22.68 ^α ± 1.57	22.138 ± 1.05	$97.550^{\beta} \pm 2.65$	90.563 ± 2.55	97.66 ^{β, Γ} ± 3.72	100.125 ± 4.17
NPK	20.88 ^α ± 0.30	23.30 ^α ± 1.06	$97.55 \ ^{\beta} \pm 5.73716$	$98.98^{\beta}\pm 2.67$	${\begin{array}{c} 99.88^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm\\ 5.26 \end{array}}$	$\frac{101.25^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm}{3.14}$
N-40	$21.08 \ ^{lpha} \pm 0.68$	$23.89^{\alpha}\pm0.63$	$\frac{100.18\ ^{\beta}}{3.11866}\pm$	94.95 ^β ± 3.79	97.96 ^{β, Γ} ± 5.56	$99.26^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm5.44$
N-80	20.66 ^a ± 0.52	24.62 ^α ± 1.51	102.99 ^β ± 4.815529	99.29 ^β ± 0.69	$\begin{array}{c} 101.03 ^{\beta,\Gamma} \pm \\ 4.08 \end{array}$	100.60 ^{β, Γ} ± 3.95
N-120	21.31 ^a ± 0.54	24.51 ^α ± 0.52	$\frac{104.788}{1.945012}^{\beta} \pm$	$96.89^{\beta}\pm 0.69^{\beta}$	98.86 ^{β, Γ} ± 3.79	$101.65^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm 2.00$
N-160	21.98 ^α ± 1.64	25.28 ^α ± 1.04	$\begin{array}{l} 106.36^{1\beta} \pm \\ 4.644682 \end{array}$	92.19 ^{2β} ± 1.72	$\begin{array}{c} 101.96^{\beta,\Gamma} \pm \\ 4.93 \end{array}$	${\begin{array}{c} 98.05^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm\\ 3.64 \end{array}}$
N-200	$21.76\ ^{\alpha}\pm0.69$	24.38 ^α ± 0.75	${\begin{array}{c}{105.43^{1}}^{\beta}\pm\\{2.400738}\end{array}}$	$\frac{88.94^{2\beta}}{2.80}\pm$	${\begin{array}{c} 101.95^{\beta,\Gamma} \pm \\ 1.99 \end{array}}$	$97.14^{\beta,\Gamma}\pm\\ 4.47$

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) ^{α,β,Γ} Means in a row with different Greek superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05). Greek letters indicate a significant difference in date of data collection between the first data collection, second data collection, and third data collection

Treatment	Average \pm SE
Control	22.41 ± 0.88
NPK	22.10 ± 0.87
N-40	22.48 ± 0.86
N-80	22.64 ± 1.05
N-120	22.91 ± 0.70
N-160	23.63 ± 1.09
N-200	23.10 ± 0.86

Table 26. Average plant height (cm) of triticale regardless the watering system after (100 DAP) \pm SE, (n=160 plants)

Table 27. Average of dry weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation(S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=80 plants)

Treatments	100 DAP		170	DAP
	S	R	S	R
Control	24.40 ± 2.66	19.10 ± 2.25	90.33 ± 11.66	$88.60^{\text{a,b}} \pm 4.17$
NPK	16.78 ± 1.72	17.36 ± 0.65	$88.80^{1} \pm 12.88$	$111.28^{2a} \pm 7.44$
N-40	18.42 ± 1.68	19.35 ± 2.73	96.55 ± 13.38	$99.30^{a,b} \pm$
				12.48
N-80	17.84 ± 1.16	21.73 ± 2.61	94.10 ± 17.47	$91.55^{a,b} \pm$
				10.31
N-120	18.41 ± 1.66	17.25 ± 1.66	107.45 ± 10.08	$97.98^{\text{a,b}}\pm2.58$
N-160	17.79 ± 1.46	21.51 ± 0.49	96.38 ± 9.57	$82.10^{\mathrm{a,b}}\pm2.61$
N-200	17.41 ± 1.39	21.63 ± 2.43	$93.78^{1}\pm 6.58$	$74.18^{2b} \pm 5.95$
12				

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

 $^{\rm a,\,b}$ Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 28. Average of dry weight of triticale (g) regardless of the watering system at first data collection $\pm SE$, (n=160 plants)

Treatment	Average \pm SE
Control	21.75 ± 1.90
NPK	17.10 ± 0.86
N-40	18.89 ± 1.49
N-80	19.78 ± 1.51
N-120	17.83 ± 1.11
N-160	19.65 ± 1.00
N-200	19.52 ± 1.52

S	R
283.05 ± 35.90	231.53 ± 16.81
279.80 ± 57.23	285.80 ± 15.20
295.88 ± 41.85	286.38 ± 37.40
282.43 ± 59.73	226.95 ± 28.53
288.55 ± 27.57	254.25 ± 14.14
281.45 ± 21.68	209.28 ± 19.16
265.68 ± 21.98	186.28 ± 23.59
	$\frac{S}{283.05 \pm 35.90} \\ 279.80 \pm 57.23 \\ 295.88 \pm 41.85 \\ 282.43 \pm 59.73 \\ 288.55 \pm 27.57 \\ 281.45 \pm 21.68 \\ 265.68 \pm 21.98 \\ \end{array}$

Table 29. Average of fresh weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems after (170 DAP) \pm SE, (n=80 plants)

6.1.2 Effect on grain weight per square meter and thousand grain weight

Table 30. Average of grain weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n= 4 m²)

Treatments	S	R
Control	$642.05^1 \pm 71.69$	$404.08^2 \pm 39.49$
NPK	$635.75^1 \pm 24.47$	$497.83^2 \pm 21.29$
N-40	$635.65^1 \pm 10.90$	$486.97^2 \pm 22.68$
N-80	$598.55^1 \pm 41.63$	$478.85^2 \pm 10.38$
N-120	534.28 ± 56.34	464.58 ± 30.50
N-160	$588.17^{1} \pm 41.30$	$466.25^2 \pm 30.29$
N-200	$588.40^1 \pm 30.05$	$418.13^2\pm 30.99$

^{1.2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Treatments	S	R
Control	$31.13^{1a} \pm 0.53$	$26.48^2 \pm 1.01$
NPK	$31.05^{1a} \pm 1.42$	$27.80^2 \pm 1.35$
N-40	$29.98^{a}\pm0.98$	27.25 ± 0.54
N-80	$29.60^{1a,b} \pm 1.45$	$26.40^2 \pm 0.61$
N-120	$27.78^{a,b}\pm1.26$	26.35 ± 0.95
N-160	$25.20^{\text{b}}\pm0.81$	25.45 ± 1.14
N-200	$27.35^{a,b}\pm0.41$	26.25 ± 0.97

Table 31. Average of thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed \circledast and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=4,000 seeds)

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05).

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05).

Treatment	Area (1,000 m ²)	Area (10,000 m ²)
Control	642.05	6,420.50
NPK	635.75	6,357.50
N-40	635.65	6,356.50
N-80	598.55	5,985.50
N-120	534.28	5,342.80
N-160	588.17	5,881.70
N-200	588.40	5,884.00

Table 32. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale for one-dunum and one-hectareunder supplemental (S) irrigation system

Treatment	Area (1,000 m ²)	Area (10,000 m ²)
Control	404.08	4,040.80
NPK	497.83	4,978.30
N-40	486.97	4,869.70
N-80	478.85	4,788.50
N-120	464.58	4,645.80
N-160	466.25	4,662.50
N-200	418.13	4,181.30

Table 33. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale for one-dunum and one-hectare under rainfed (R) conditions

6.1.3 Effect on grain weight regardless of the treatments of fertilization

Table 34. Estimating grain weight (kg) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplementalirrigation (S) systems regardless of nitrogen fertilizer applications

Area (m ²)	S	R
One	0.58	0.49
1000	581.63	491.43
10,000	5816.33	4914.29

6.1.4 Effect on spike weight and spike number per square meter

Treatments	S	R
Control	$893.00^{1} \pm 95.43$	$641.70^2 \pm 65.54$
NPK	879.78 ± 35.88	767.85 ± 26.74
N-40	$893.70^{1}\pm14.38$	$740.75^2 \pm 28.96$
N-80	854.00 ± 56.41	767.78 ± 8.87
N-120	816.98 ± 73.78	719.93 ± 38.48
N-160	769.25 ± 54.26	739.35 ± 31.98
N-200	$821.00^{1} \pm 39.47$	$656.55^2 \pm 33.51$

Table 35. Average of spike weight (g) of triticale per square meter under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, $(n = 4 m^2)$

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

S	R
443.00 ± 31.14	446.25 ± 40.06
457.00 ± 32.05	491.50 ± 15.59
497.25 ± 17.38	506.25 ± 15.16
485.50 ± 36.23	526.50 ± 28.27
503.75 ± 42.77	476.00 ± 11.84
520.25 ± 30.88	520.75 ± 7.20
493.75 ± 12.02	469.25 ± 14.48
	$\frac{S}{443.00 \pm 31.14}$ 457.00 ± 32.05 497.25 ± 17.38 485.50 ± 36.23 503.75 ± 42.77 520.25 ± 30.88 493.75 ± 12.02

Table 36. Average of spike number of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, $(n=4 m^2)$

6.1.5 Effect on dry hay weight per square meter

Table 37. Average of dry ha	y weight (g)	of triticale	stem per	square meter	under	rainfed
(R) and suppleme	ntal irrigatio	on(S) syste	$ms \pm SE$,	$(n=4 m^2)$		

Treatments	S	R
Control	670.00 ± 64.94	697.50 ± 99.78
NPK	755.00 ± 66.65	640.00 ± 108.63
N-40	795.00 ± 83.82	702.50 ± 33.26
N-80	705.00 ± 73.77	855.00 ± 100.04
N-120	805.00 ± 44.44	737.50 ± 66.88
N-160	710.00 ± 48.13	792.50 ± 56.48
N-200	830.00 ± 32.40	720.00 ± 58.02

6.1.6 Effect on grain content

6.1.6.1Effect on grain protein content

Table 38. Average of grain protein content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

Treatments	S	R

Control	$10.64^{1a} \pm 0.35$	$13.19^2 \pm 0.42$
NPK	$10.90^{a,b}\pm 0.68$	12.36 ± 0.59
N-40	$11.49^{a,b} \pm 0.35$	12.22 ± 0.65
N-80	$11.27^{1a,b} \pm 0.59$	$13.00^2 \pm 0.38$
N-120	$12.33^{a,b}\pm0.46$	13.08 ± 0.74
N-160	$13.20^b\pm0.16$	12.93 ± 0.89
N-200	$12.29^{a,b}\pm0.36$	12.30 ± 0.77

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) ^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different

(P < 0.05)

N-200

6.1.6.2 Effect on grain starch content

Table 39. Average of grain starch content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=4,000 seeds)

Treatments	Supplemental	Rainfed
Control	$59.69^{1} \pm 0.24$	$57.21^2 \pm 0.29$
NPK	59.60 ± 0.55	58.23 ± 0.73
N-40	59.31 ± 0.30	58.04 ± 0.68
N-80	$58.98^{1} \pm 0.81$	$57.27^2 \pm 0.60$
N_120	58.07 ± 0.48	57.15 ± 0.70
N-160	57.03 ± 0.39	57.07 ± 1.02
N-200	57.86 ± 0.30	57.89 ± 0.80

^{1.2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

5 11	0			
Treatment		5	F	ł.
	Protein	Starch	Protein	Starch
Control	10.64	59.69	13.19	57.21
NPK	10.90	59.60	12.36	58.23
N-40	11.49	59.31	12.22	58.04
N-80	11.27	58.98	13.00	57.27
N_120	12.33	58.07	13.08	57.15
N-160	13.20	57.03	12.93	57.07

57.86

12.30

57.89

12.29

Table 40. Comparison between protein and starch grain content of triticale underrainfed and supplemental irrigations systems

6.1.6.3 Effect on grain crude fiber content

Treatments	S	R
Control	2.76 ± 0.02	2.72 ± 0.01
NPK	2.75 ± 0.01	2.78 ± 0.02
N-40	2.76 ± 0.02	2.75 ± 0.02
N-80	2.73 ± 0.01	2.71 ± 0.02
N-120	2.75 ± 0.02	2.74 ± 0.03
N-160	2.71 ± 0.01	2.75 ± 0.02
N-200	2.74 ± 0.02	1.79 ± 0.04

Table 41. Average of grain crude fiber content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=4,000 seeds)

6.1.6.4 Effect on grain ash content

Table 42. Average of grain ash content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems $\pm SE$, (n=4,000 seeds)

Treatments	Supplemental	Rainfed
Control	$1.54^{1a} \pm 0.02$	$1.75^{2} \pm 0.02$
NPK_100 kg/ha	$1.57^{1a.b} \pm 0.07$	$1.70^2 \pm 0.06$
N-40	$1.63^{a,b}\pm0.04$	1.67 ± 0.07
N-80	$1.62^{a,b}\pm0.08$	1.74 ± 0.05
N-120	$1.71^{a,b}\pm0.04$	1.74 ± 0.05
N-160	$1.76^{b} \pm 0.02$	1.75 ± 0.06
N-200	$1.70^{a,b}\pm0.01$	1.71 ± 0.03

^{1.2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

6.1.6.5 Effect on grain fat content

Treatments	Supplemental	Rainfed
Control	$1.50^1\pm0.01$	$1.35^2\pm0.03$
NPK_	$1.48^1\pm0.02$	$1.41^2\pm0.02$
N-40	$1.49^1\pm0.01$	$1.41^{2} \pm 0.03$
N-80	$1.46^1\pm0.03$	$1.39^2\pm0.03$
N-120	1.43 ± 0.03	1.38 ± 0.04
N-160	1.39 ± 0.02	1.40 ± 0.03
N-200	1.43 ± 0.01	1.39 ± 0.02

Table 43. Average of grain fat content (%) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

6.1.6.6Effect on grain moisture content

Table 44. Average of grain moisture (%) of triticale under	rainfed (R) and supplemental
irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)	

	Average moisture ratio (%) \pm SE	
Treatment	Supplemental	Rainfed
Control	10.95 ± 0.09	10.88 ± 0.04
NPK	10.88 ± 0.05	10.98 ± 0.10
N-40	10.76 ± 0.18	10.97 ± 0.10
N-80	10.78 ± 0.03	10.81 ± 0.14
N-120	10.63 ± 0.07	10.90 ± 0.13
N-160	10.70 ± 0.06	10.80 ± 0.13
N-200	10.71 ± 0.04	10.95 ± 0.14

6.1.7 Effect on grain morphology

6.1.7.1 Grain area

Treatments S R $15.52^{1a,}\pm 0.18$ Control $14.46^2 \pm 0.34$ NPK $15.49^{a} \pm 0.44$ 14.74 ± 0.41 N-40 $15.27^{a,} \pm 0.29$ 14.64 ± 0.28 $15.31^{1a,}\pm 0.40$ $14.16^2 \pm 0.30$ N-80 N-120 $14.9^{a,b}\pm0.35$ 14.19 ± 0.33 $13.78^{b,}\pm0.30$ N-160 14.10 ± 0.33 $14.65^{a,b}\pm0.25$ N-200 14.42 ± 0.31

Table 45. Average of grain area (mm^2) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental *irrigation*(S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 46. Average of grain area (mm^2) and grain weight (g) per m^2 of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2), respectively

Treatments		S		R
	Grain area	Grain weight	Grain area	Grain weight
	(mm^2)	(g) per m^2	(mm^2)	(g) per m^2
Control	15.52	642.05	14.46	404.08
NPK	15.49	635.75	14.74	497.83
N-40	15.27	635.65	14.64	486.97
N-80	15.31	598.55	14.16	478.85
N-120	14.9	534.28	14.19	464.58
N-160	13.78	588.17	14.10	466.25
N-200	14.65	588.40	14.42	418.13

Treatments		S]	R
	Grain area	Thousand grain	Grain area	Thousand
	(mm^2)	weight (g)	(mm^2)	grain weight
	15.50	21.12	1 1 1 4	(g)
Control	15.52	31.13	14.46	26.48
NPK	15 49	31.05	14 74	27.80
	15.47	51.05	17.77	27.00
N-40	15.27	29.98	14.64	27.25
N-80	15.31	29.60	14.16	26.40
N-120	14 0	27 78	1/ 10	2635
11-120	14.7	21.10	14.17	20.33
N-160	13.78	25.20	14.10	25.45
N-200	14.65	27.35	14.42	26.25

Table 47. Average of grain area (mm^2) and thousand grain weight (g) of triticale, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds)

Table 48. Datasets from previous experiments reporting average grain weight and
grain area of wheat

Reference	Location & season	Range in average grain area (mm ² grain ⁻¹)	Range in average grain weight (mg grain ⁻¹)	
(Wang et al., 2018)	Cultivated in	12.88-17.24	28.79-46.33	
(Sanchez-Bragado et al., 2020)	Kansas in 2017 Cultivated in Lleida, Spain in	13.54–18.46	32.20-53.10	
(Brinton <i>et al.</i> , 2017)	Cultivated in UK in 2015 and 2016	18.04-20.61	42.73-51.27	
Adapted source: (Kim et al., 2021)				

<u>6.1.7.2 Grain perimeter</u>

Treatments	S	R
Control	$21.59^{\text{a}} \pm 0.15$	21.05 ± 0.24
NPK	$21.58^{a}\pm0.31$	21.27 ± 0.32
N-40	$21.52^{\mathrm{a}}\pm0.20$	21.26 ± 0.26
N-80	$21.52^{a}\pm0.21$	20.94 ± 0.28
N-120	$21.42^{a,b}\pm0.25$	20.88 ± 0.26
N-160	$20.37^{\text{b}}\pm0.19$	20.89 ± 0.24
N-200	$21.14^{a,b}\pm0.24$	21.14 ± 0.21

Table 49. Average of grain perimeter (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 50. Average of grain perimeter (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale, under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2), respectively

Treatments	S		Treatments S			R
	Grain	Grain weight	Grain	Grain weight		
	perimeter	(g) per m ²	perimeter	(g) per m^2		
	(mm)		(mm)			
Control	21.59	642.05	21.05	404.08		
NPK	21.58	635.75	21.27	497.83		
N-40	21.52	635.65	21.26	486.97		
N-80	21.52	598.55	20.94	478.85		
N-120	21.42	534.28	20.88	464.58		
N-160	20.37	588.17	20.89	466.25		
N-200	21.14	588.40	21.14	418.13		

Treatments		S	R	
	Grain	Thousand grain	Grain	Thousand
	perimeter	weight (g)	perimeter	grain weight
	(mm)		(mm)	(g)
Control	21.59	31.13	21.05	26.48
NPK	21.58	31.05	21.27	27.80
N-40	21.52	29.98	21.26	27.25
N-80	21.52	29.60	20.94	26.40
N-120	21.42	27.78	20.88	26.35
N-160	20.37	25.20	20.89	25.45
N-200	21.14	27.35	21.14	26.25

Table 51. Average of grain perimeter (mm) and thousand grain weight (g) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds)

6.1.7.3 Grain length

Table 52. Average of grain length (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation(S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

Treatments	S	R
Control	$7.28^{\rm a}\pm0.05$	7.01 ± 0.14
NPK	$7.23^{a,b}\pm0.18$	7.13 ± 0.14
N-40	$7.23^{a,b}\pm0.08$	7.14 ± 0.10
N-80	$7.22^{a,b}\pm0.06$	7.01 ± 0.17
N-120	$7.22^{a,b}\pm0.09$	6.95 ± 0.10
N-160	$6.80^b\pm0.05$	7.00 ± 0.10
N-200	$7.13^{a,b}\pm0.09$	7.12 ± 0.08

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Treatments	S		F	2
	Grain length	Grain weight	Grain length	Grain weight
	(mm)	(g) per m^2	(mm)	(g) per m ²
Control	7.28	642.05	7.01	404.08
NPK	7.23	635.75	7.13	497.83
N-40	7.23	635.65	7.14	486.97
N-80	7.22	598.55	7.01	478.85
N-120	7.22	534.28	6.95	464.58
N-160	6.80	588.17	7.00	466.25
N-200	7.13	588.40	7.12	418.13

Table 53. Average of grain length (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2), respectively

Table 54. Average of grain length (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000 seeds) and ($4 m^2$), respectively

Treatments		S	R	
	Grain length	Thousand grain	Grain length	Thousand
	(mm)	weight (g)	(mm)	grain weight
				(g)
Control	7.28	31.13	7.01	26.48
NPK	7 23	31.05	7 13	27.80
	1.25	51.05	7.15	27.00
N-40	7.23	29.98	7.14	27.25
N-80	7.22	29.60	7.01	26.40
N-120	7.22	27.78	6.95	26.35
N-160	6.80	25.20	7.00	25 45
1, 100	0.00	23.20	7.00	20.TJ
N-200	7.13	27.35	7.12	26.25

Table 55. Range of kernel shape of Ethiopian durum wheat

	Grain length (mm)	Grain width (mm)
Maximum	8.84	3.57
Median	7.83	3.09
Minimum	5.21	2.44

Adapted source: (Alemu et al., 2020)

6.1.7.4 Grain width

Table 56. Average of grain width (mm) of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems \pm SE, (n=4,000 seeds)

Treatments	S	R
Control	$2.71^{a,b}\pm0.02$	2.63 ± 0.02
NPK_	$2.72^{1,a} \pm 0.04$	$2.63^2\pm0.02$
N-40	$2.69^{a,b}\pm0.03$	2.61 ± 0.02
N-80	$2.69^{1,a,b}\pm 0.05$	$2.58^2\pm0.01$
N-120	$2.63^{a,b}\pm0.03$	2.60 ± 0.04
N-160	$2.57^{b}\pm0.05$	2.57 ± 0.03
N-200	$2.61^{a,b}\pm0.02$	2.59 ± 0.03

^{1,2} Means in a row with different Arabic numerical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

^{a, b} Means in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 57. Average of grain width (mm) and	d grain weight (g) per square meter of
triticale under rainfed (R) and su	pplemental irrigation (S) systems (n=4,000
seeds) and $(4 m^2)$, respectively	

Treatments	S		Ι	2
	Grain width	Grain weight	Grain width	Grain weight
	(mm)	(g) per m^2	(mm)	(g) per m^2
Control	2.71	642.05	2.63	404.08
NPK	2.72	635.75	2.63	497.83
N-40	2.69	635.65	2.61	486.97
N-80	2.69	598.55	2.58	478.85
N-120	2.63	534.28	2.60	464.58
N-160	2.57	588.17	2.57	466.25
N-200	2.61	588.40	2.59	418.13

Treatments		S	R		
	Grain width	Thousand grain	Grain width	Thousand	
	(mm)	weight (g)	(mm)	grain weight	
				(g)	
Control	2.71	31.13	2.63	26.48	
NPK	2.72	31.05	2.63	27.80	
N-40	2.69	29.98	2.61	27.25	
N-80	2.69	29.60	2.58	26.40	
N-120	2.63	27.78	2.60	26.35	
N-160	2.57	25.20	2.57	25.45	
N-200	2.61	27.35	2.59	26.25	

Table 58. Average of grain width (mm) and grain weight (g) per square meter of triticale under rainfed (R) and supplemental irrigation (S) systems, (n=4,000 seeds) and (4 m^2), respectively

6.1.7.5 Overview of impact of nitrogen fertilization and watering system on grain size

 Table 59. Comparison of grain measurements and thousand grain weight under three cultivation treatments

	Irrigation (m ³ /ha)			Nitrogen fertilizer		Grain measurements &		
Cultivation - treatment						weight		
				(N, kg/ha)				
	Overwintering	Jointing	Heading	Sowing	Jointing	Average grain	Average grain	Average *TGW
	stage	stage	stage	stage	stage	length	width	(g)
						(mm)	(mm)	
Irrigated						6.70	3.45	45.70
and	600	600	600	135	00			
fertilized	000	000	000	155	90			
(IF)								
Rainfed	*NI A	*N A	*N A	125	00	6.36	3.17	35.50
(RF)	INA	INA	INA	155	90			
Reduced						6.37	3.33	39.40
in nitrogen	600	600	600	135	*NA			
(RN)								

Adapted source: (Zhang et al., 2013)

*NA = Not applicated, *TGW =thousand grain weigh

6.2 Syntax code of SPSS

* Encoding: UTF-8.

UNIANOVA Plant_hight_cm BY Number_of_collecting_dataWatering_System Treatment

/METHOD=SSTYPE(3)

/INTERCEPT=INCLUDE

/PLOT=PROFILE(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) /EMMEANS=TABLES(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) COMPARE(Number of collecting data) ADJ(BONFERRONI)

/PRINT=HOMOGENEITY DESCRIPTIVE

/CRITERIA=ALPHA(.05)

/DESIGN=Number_of_collecting_data Watering_System Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System Watering_System*Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Treatment

Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment

UNIANOVA Plant_hight_cm BY Number_of_collecting_dataWatering_System Treatment

/METHOD=SSTYPE(3)

/INTERCEPT=INCLUDE

/PLOT=PROFILE(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) /EMMEANS=TABLES(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) COMPARE(Watering_System) ADJ(BONFERRONI)

/PRINT=HOMOGENEITY DESCRIPTIVE

/CRITERIA=ALPHA(.05)

/DESIGN=Number_of_collecting_data Watering_System Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System Watering_System*Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Treatment

Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment

UNIANOVA Plant_hight_cm BY Number_of_collecting_dataWatering_System Treatment

/METHOD=SSTYPE(3)

/INTERCEPT=INCLUDE

/PLOT=PROFILE(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) /EMMEANS=TABLES(Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment) COMPARE(Treatment) ADJ(BONFERRONI)

/PRINT=HOMOGENEITY DESCRIPTIVE

/CRITERIA=ALPHA(.05)

/DESIGN=Number_of_collecting_data Watering_System Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System Watering_System*Treatment Number_of_collecting_data*Treatment

Number_of_collecting_data*Watering_System*Treatment

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abass, A. B., Ndunguru, G., Mamiro, P., Alenkhe, B., Mlingi, N., & Bekunda, M.
 (2014). Post-harvest food losses in a maize-based farming system of semi-arid savannah area of Tanzania. *Journal of stored products research*, 57, 49-57.
- Aciksoz, S. B., Yazici, A., Ozturk, L., & Cakmak, I. (2011). Biofortification of wheat with iron through soil and foliar application of nitrogen and iron fertilizers
 [Article]. *Plant and Soil*, 349(1-2), 215-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-011-0863-2</u>
- Afzal, I., Zahid, S., & Mubeen, S. (2019). Tools and Techniques of Postharvest
 Processing of Food Grains and Seeds. In M. Hasanuzzaman (Ed.), *Agronomic Crops: Volume 2: Management Practices* (pp. 583-604). Springer Singapore.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9783-8_26
- Ahmed, N. J., & Ali, K. A. (2015). Influence of Different Levels of Water Stress on Some Physiological Traits of Five Wheat (Triticum spp.) Cultivars. *Garmian University Journal*, 1, 436-455.
- Akgün, I., Kara, B., & Altindal, D. (2011). Effect of salinity (NaCl) on germination, seedling growth and nutrient uptake of different Triticale genotypes [Article]. *Turkish Journal of Field Crops*, *16*(2), 225-232.
 <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u>
 84857001300&partnerID=40&md5=f39d4e4d963caab6f3bbfe16b31bc60a
- Alagoz, S. M., Hadi, H., Toorchi, M., Pawłowski, T. A., & Shishavan, M. T. (2021).
 Effects of Water Deficiency at Different Phenological Stages on Oxidative
 Defense, Ionic Content, and Yield of Triticale (× Triticosecale Wittmack)

Irrigated with Saline Water. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-021-00635-5

- Alemu, A., Feyissa, T., Tuberosa, R., Maccaferri, M., Sciara, G., Letta, T., & Abeyo, B. (2020). Genome-wide association mapping for grain shape and color traits in Ethiopian durum wheat (Triticum turgidum ssp. durum). *The Crop Journal*, 8(5), 757-768. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2020.01.001
- Ali, K. A., Muhammad Amin, S., & Abdullah, R. A. (2021). Late sowing date influence on wheat and triticale crop yields as a draught management tool. *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*, 20(6), 353-358.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2021.04.002

- Ammar, K., Mergoum, M., & Rajaram, S. (2004). The history and evolution of triticale. *Triticale improvement and production*, 179, 1-9.
- Audenaert, K., Troch, V., Landschoot, S., & Haesaert, G. (2014). Biotic stresses in the anthropogenic hybrid triticale (× Triticosecale Wittmack): current knowledge and breeding challenges. *European journal of plant pathology*, *140*(4), 615-630.
- Banaszak, Z., & Marciniak, K. (2002). Wide adaptation of DANKO triticale varieties.
- Barati, V., & Bijanzadeh, E. (2021). Research Article Triticale forage crop quality as affected by water stress and nitrogen biofertilizer in an arid climate.
- Barati, V., Bijanzadeh, E., & Zinati, Z. (2020). Nitrogen source and deficit irrigation influence on yield and nitrogen translocation of triticale in an arid mediterranean agroecosystem [Article]. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*, 22(5), 1295-1311. <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85093900910&partnerID=40&md5=979cb9057d38f266e40675b1705a692b</u>

- Barneveld, R., & Cooper, K. (2002). Nutritional quality of triticale for pigs and poultry.
 Proceedings of the 5th International Triticale Symposium, Radzików, Poland, 30
 June-5 July, 2002. Volume I: oral presentations,
- Barton, F. E. (1991). New methods for the structural and compositional analysis of cell walls for quality determinations. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 32(1-3), 1-11.
- Bashour, II. (2001). Fertility and fertilizer requirements. Rural Integrated Development of the Mountains of Northern Lebanon. FAO Report to Ministry of Agriculture, Beirut, Lebanon, 116.
- Bashour, I. I., & Sayegh, A. H. (2007). *Methods of analysis for soils of arid and semiarid regions*. FAO.
- Bashshūr, '. a. m., & al-Ṣāyigh, A. w. n. (2007). Methods of analysis for soils of arid and semi-arid regions. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. <u>https://go.exlibris.link/gshH3hRL</u>
- Bassu, S., Asseng, S., & Richards, R. (2011). Yield benefits of triticale traits for wheat under current and future climates. *Field Crops Research*, *124*(1), 14-24.
- Becker-Ritt, A. B., Martinelli, A. H. S., Mitidieri, S., Feder, V., Wassermann, G. E., Santi, L., . . . Pasquali, G. (2007). Antifungal activity of plant and bacterial ureases. *Toxicon*, 50(7), 971-983.

Bielski, S., Romaneckas, K., & Šarauskis, E. (2020). Impact of Nitrogen and Boron Fertilization on Winter Triticale Productivity Parameters. *Agronomy*, 10(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10020279</u>

- Brinton, J., Simmonds, J., Minter, F., Leverington-Waite, M., Snape, J., & Uauy, C.
 (2017). Increased pericarp cell length underlies a major quantitative trait locus for grain weight in hexaploid wheat. *New Phytologist*, 215(3), 1026-1038.
- Brown, T. A., Jones, M. K., Powell, W., & Allaby, R. G. (2009). The complex origins of domesticated crops in the Fertile Crescent. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24(2), 103-109. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.09.008</u>
- Campo, L., Monteagudo, A. B., Salleres, B., Castro, P., & Moreno-Gonzalez, J. (2013). NIRS determination of non-structural carbohydrates, water soluble carbohydrates and other nutritive quality traits in whole plant maize with wide range variability. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 11(2), 463-471.
- Cartelle, J., Pedró, A., Savin, R., & Slafer, G. A. (2006). Grain weight responses to post-anthesis spikelet-trimming in an old and a modern wheat under Mediterranean conditions. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 25(4), 365-371.
- Chanie, Y. (2014). Comparative Advantage Study of Major Crops: A Case Study in Triticale Growing Areas of Farta and Lai-gaint Districts of Amhara Region, Ethiopia. *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences*, 7(1), 35.
- Chardon, F., Barthélémy, J., Daniel-Vedele, F., & Masclaux-Daubresse, C. (2010).
 Natural variation of nitrate uptake and nitrogen use efficiency in Arabidopsis thaliana cultivated with limiting and ample nitrogen supply. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 61(9), 2293-2302.
- Cheremisinoff, N. P., & E. Rosenfeld, P. (2011). 1 Industry and Products. In N. P.
 Cheremisinoff & P. E. Rosenfeld (Eds.), *Handbook of Pollution Prevention and Cleaner Production Vol. 3: Best Practices in the Agrochemical Industry* (pp. 1-24). Elsevier Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-7825-0.00001-7</u>
- Choct, M., & Hughes, R. J. (1999). Chemical and physical characteristics of grains related to variability in energy and amino acid availability in poultry. *Crop and pasture science*, 50(5), 689-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/AR98161</u>
- Clapham, W. M., & Fedders, J. M. (2008). Effect of sowing date of triticale on seasonal herbage production in the central Appalachian Highlands of the United States. *Grass and Forage Science*, 63(4), 447-457.
- Cooper, K. V., Jessop, R. S., & Darvey, N. L. (2004). Triticale in Australia. *Triticale Improvement and Production, Eds: Mergoum, M. & Gomez, MH, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome*, 87-92.
- Council, N. R. (1998). *Nutrient Requirements of Swine: 10th Revised Edition*. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.17226/6016</u>
- Council, N. R. (2000). Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle: Seventh Revised Edition: Update 2000. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.17226/9791</u>
- Defra, A. (2010). Fertiliser manual (RB209). Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, TSO (The Stationary Office), London.
- Demirbas, A. (2007). Progress and recent trends in biofuels. *Progress in energy and combustion science*, *33*(1), 1-18.
- Denčić, S., Pejin, D., Zekić, V., Mojović, L., Pejin, J., Vukoje, V., & Nikolić, S. (2012). A Comparison of the Costs of Bioethanol Production from Triticale, Wheat and Maize. *Romanian Agricultural Research*(29), 261-269.
- Deng, Y., Chen, K., Teng, W., Zhan, A., Tong, Y., Feng, G., . . . Chen, X. (2014). Is the inherent potential of maize roots efficient for soil phosphorus acquisition? *Plos One*, 9(3), e90287.

Derejko, A., Studnicki, M., & Wójcik-Gront, E. (2021). Grain yield performance and stability of winter wheat and triticale cultivars in a temperate climate. *Crop Science*, *61*(6), 3962-3971.

Ekiz, H., Bağcı, S., Kiral, A., Eker, S., Gültekin, İ., alkan torun, A., & Cakmak, I. (1998). Effects of Zinc fertilization and irrigation on grain yield and zinc concentration of various cereals grown in zinc-deficient calcareous soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition - J PLANT NUTR*, 21, 2245-2256. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904169809365558

- El-Metwally, E.-M. A., Hassanein, M. A., Hussein, M. M., El-Noemani, A. A., & Keheal, H. K. (2012). Triticale (Triticosecale) yield as affected by sowing dates and NPK fertilizers in Egyptian new reclaimed sandy soils. *Journal of applied sciences research*, 8(4), 2412-2418. <u>https://go.exlibris.link/Y1bCSz4W</u>
- Elia, M., Savin, R., & Slafer, G. A. (2016). Fruiting efficiency in wheat: physiological aspects and genetic variation among modern cultivars. *Field Crops Research*, 191, 83-90.
- EurObserv, E. R. (2012). European Barometer 2012 of Renewable Energies. Systemes Solaires, Paris, 30 pp. In.
- Evers, A. D., Cox, R. I., Shaheedullah, M. Z., & Withey, R. P. (1990). Predicting milling extraction rate by image analysis of wheat grains. *Aspects of Applied Biology*(25), 417-426.
- FAO. (2019). *Major triticale growing countries in the world in 2019*. <u>https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL</u>
- Fernandez, F. I., Marinetto, J., Royo, C., Ramos, J. M., & Garcia del Moral, L. F. (2000). Amino-Acid Composition and Protein and Carbohydrate Accumulation

in the Grain of Triticale Grown under Terminal Water Stress Simulated by a Senescing Agent. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *32*(3), 249-258. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/jcrs.2000.0329</u>

- Ferrari, E., Quiriban, A., Gili, A., Picca, A., & Repollo, R. (2021). Caracterización morfológica del grano de triticale (x Triticosecale Wittmack) mediante procesamiento y análisis de imágenes digitales. *RIA. Revista de Investigaciones Agropecuarias*, 47(2), 232-239.
- Flagella, Z., Giuliani, M. M., Giuzio, L., Volpi, C., & Masci, S. (2010). Influence of water deficit on durum wheat storage protein composition and technological quality. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 33(3), 197-207.
- Fohner, G. R., & Sierra, A. H. (2004). Triticale marketing: strategies for matching crop capabilities to user needs. *Triticale improvement and production*.
- FOSS analytical solutions for food analysis and quality control.

https://www.fossanalytics.com/en-au/

- Fresneau, C., Ghashghaie, J., & Cornic, G. (2007). Drought effect on nitrate reductase and sucrose-phosphate synthase activities in wheat (Triticum durum L.): role of leaf internal CO2. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(11), 2983-2992.
- Fuller, D. Q. (2007). Contrasting Patterns in Crop Domestication and Domestication Rates: Recent Archaeobotanical Insights from the Old World. *Annals of Botany*, 100(5), 903-924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcm048</u>
- Gallais, A., & Hirel, B. (2004). An approach to the genetics of nitrogen use efficiency in maize. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *55*(396), 295-306.
- Gao, Y., Xu, X., Jin, J., Duan, S., Zhen, W., Xie, C., & Ma, J. (2021). Dissecting the genetic basis of grain morphology traits in Chinese wheat by genome wide

association study [Article]. Euphytica, 217(4), Article 56.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-021-02795-y

Gegas, V. C., Nazari, A., Griffiths, S., Simmonds, J., Fish, L., Orford, S., . . . Snape, J.
W. (2010). A genetic framework for grain size and shape variation in wheat. *The Plant Cell*, 22(4), 1046-1056.

Green, C. (2002, 2002). The competitive position of triticale in Europe.

- Grunow, J. O., Pienaar, A. J., & Breytenbach, C. (1970). Long term nitrogen application to veld in South Africa. *Proceedings of the Annual Congresses of the Grassland Society of Southern Africa*, 5(1), 75-90.
- Grzesiak, M. T., Hura, T., Grzesiak, S., Kaczanowska, K., & Szczyrek, P. (2018).
 Influence of nitrogen deficiency or excess on a root system structure of maize and triticale seedlings grown under low and high soil density [Article]. *Journal* of Agronomy and Crop Science, 204(2), 196-208.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jac.12248

- Gulmezoglu, N., Tolay, I., & Askin, A. (2010). Changes in nitrate concentration of triticale forages (xTriticosecale Wittmack) at different growth stages by increasing nitrogen rates. *Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment*, 8(2), 449-453.
- Gupta, P. K., & Priyadarshan, P. M. (1982). Triticale: Present Status and Future Prospects. In (Vol. 21, pp. 255-345). Elsevier Science & Technology. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2660(08)60300-4</u>
- Gursoy, U., & Yilmaz, A. (2002). Determination of energy values and digestibility characteristics of triticale varieties. *J. Anim. Sci*, 80(Suppl 1), 396.

- Harris, P. A., Nelson, S., Carslake, H. B., Argo, C. M., Wolf, R., Fabri, F. B., . . . Ellis, A. D. (2018). Comparison of NIRS and Wet Chemistry Methods for the Nutritional Analysis of Haylages for Horses. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, *71*, 13-20. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2018.08.013</u>
- Henry, Y., Vogt, H., & Zoiopoulos, P. E. (1988). Feed evaluation and nutritional requirements. III. 4. pigs and poultry. *Livest. Prod. Sci.*, 19, 299-354.
- Jangam, A. P., & Raghuram, N. (2015). Nitrogen and Stress. In G. K. Pandey (Ed.), Elucidation of Abiotic Stress Signaling in Plants: Functional Genomics Perspectives, Volume 2 (pp. 323-339). Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2540-7_12</u>
- Janusauskaite, D., Feiziene, D., & Feiza, V. (2019). Comparative response of spring and winter triticale productivity and bioethanol yield to fertilisation intensity
 [Article]. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science, 69(2), 95-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2018.1501089</u>
- Jessop, R. S. (1996). Stress tolerance in newer triticales compared to other cereals. In *Triticale: today and tomorrow* (pp. 419-427). Springer.
- Jondreville, C., Genthon, C., Bouguennec, A., Carre, B., & Nys, Y. (2007).
 Characterisation of European varieties of triticale with special emphasis on the ability of plant phytase to improve phytate phosphorus availability to chickens. *British poultry science*, 48(6), 678-689.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00071660701691292

Just, A., Jørgensen, H., & Fernandez, J. A. (1984). Prediction of metabolizable energy for pigs on the basis of crude nutrients in the feeds. *Livestock Production Science*, 11(1), 105-128. Kadakoglu, B., KARLI, B., GÜL, M., & ÖZUYGUR, A. (2021). ECONOMIC
ANALYSIS OF TRITICALE PRODUCTION: A CASE STUDY OF CORUM
PROVINCE, TURKEY. Scientific Papers: Management, Economic Engineering
in Agriculture & Rural Development, 21(3).

Karim, M. A., Hamid, A., & Rahman, S. (2000). Grain growth and yield performance of wheat under subtropical conditions: II. Effect of water stress at reproductive stage [Article]. *Cereal research communications*, 28(1-2), 101-107. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03543580

- Katyal, M., Virdi, A. S., Kaur, A., Singh, N., Kaur, S., Ahlawat, A. K., & Singh, A. M. (2016). Diversity in quality traits amongst Indian wheat varieties I: Flour and protein characteristics [Article]. *Food Chemistry*, 194, 337-344, Article 17921. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.07.125</u>
- Keles, G., Ates, S., Coskun, B., Alatas, M. S., & Isik, S. (2016). Forage yields and feeding value of small grain winter cereals for lambs. *J Sci Food Agric*, 96(12), 4168-4177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.7619</u>
- Kim, B., Baier, A., Somers, D., & Gustafson, J. (2002). Aluminum tolerance in triticale, wheat, and rye. In *Mutations, In Vitro and Molecular Techniques for Environmentally Sustainable Crop Improvement* (pp. 101-111). Springer.
- Kim, J., Savin, R., & Slafer, G. A. (2021). Weight of individual wheat grains estimated from high-throughput digital images of grain area. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 124, 126237.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2021.126237

- Kovach, M. J., Sweeney, M. T., & McCouch, S. R. (2007). New insights into the history of rice domestication. *Trends in Genetics*, 23(11), 578-587. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2007.08.012</u>
- Labra, M. H., Struik, P. C., Evers, J. B., & Calderini, D. F. (2017). Plasticity of seed weight compensates reductions in seed number of oilseed rape in response to shading at flowering. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 84, 113-124.
- Ladoni, M., Kravchenko, R. N., & Robertson, G. P. (2015). Topography Mediates the Influence of Cover Crops on Soil Nitrate Levels in Row Crop Agricultural Systems. *Plos One*, 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371</u>
- Lopez-Castaneda, C., & Richards, R. A. (1994). Variation in temperate cereals in rainfed environments II. Phasic development and growth. *Field Crops Research*, 37(1), 63-75.
- Maresma, Á., Santiveri, F., Chocarro, C., & Lloveras, J. (2021). Optimizing forage production in double-annual cropping systems under irrigated Mediterranean conditions [Article]. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 207(2), 344-353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jac.12444</u>
- Markou, G., Brulé, M., Balafoutis, A., Kornaros, M., Georgakakis, D., & Papadakis, G. (2017). Biogas production from energy crops in northern Greece: economics of electricity generation associated with heat recovery in a greenhouse. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, *19*(4), 1147-1167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-016-1314-9
- Marschner, H. (1995). Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press. *Inc., San Diago*.

Martyniak, L. (2008). Response of spring cereals to a deficit of atmospheric precipitation in the particular stages of plant growth and development. *Agricultural Water Management*, *95*(3), 171-178.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2007.10.014

- Matthews, P., McCaffery, D., & Jenkins, L. (2021). Winter crop variety sowing guide 2021 [Management guide].
- McDonald, G., & Hooper, P. (2013). Nitrogen decision-Guidelines and rules of thumb, GRDC Updated Papers. In: GRDC.
- McDonald, M. B. (2007). Seed moisture and the equilibrium seed moisture content curve. *Seed technology*, 7-18.
- Mergoum, M., & Macpherson, H. G. (2004). *Triticale improvement and production* (Vol. 179). Food & Agriculture Org.
- Mergoum, M., Pfeiffer, W., Peña-Bautista, R., Ammar, K., & Rajaram, S. (2004). *Triticale crop improvement: the CIMMYT programme. Triticale improvement and production.*
- Mergoum, M., Ryan, J., & Shroyer, J. P. (1992). Triticale in Morocco: potential for adoption in the semi-arid cereal zone. *J. Nat. Res. Life Sci. Edu*, *21*, 137-141.
- Millet, S., Aluwé, M., Van den Broeke, A., Leen, F., De Boever, J., & De Campeneere,
 S. (2018). Review: Pork production with maximal nitrogen efficiency. *Animal*, *12*(5), 1060-1067. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117002610</u>
- Moinuddin, S., & Afridi, M. M. R. K. (1997). Grain yield and quality of triticale as affected by progressive application rates of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer [Article]. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 20(4-5), 593-600.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01904169709365277

- Morrison, L. A., & Wrigley, C. (2004). TAXONOMIC CLASSIFICATION OF GRAIN SPECIES. In C. Wrigley (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Grain Science* (pp. 271-280). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-765490-9/00171-3</u>
- Müller, A., Coradi, P. C., Nunes, M. T., Grohs, M., Bressiani, J., Teodoro, P. E., . . . Flores, E. M. M. (2021). Effects of cultivars and fertilization levels on the quality of rice milling: A diagnosis using near-infrared spectroscopy, X-ray diffraction, and scanning electron microscopy. *Food Research International*, *147*, 110524. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110524</u>
- Myer, R., Combs, G., & Barnett, R. (1990). Evaluation of three triticale cultivars as potential feed grains for swine. Proceedings-Soil and Crop Science Society of Florida,
- Myer, R., Lozano del Rio, A., Mergoum, M., & Gomez-Macpherson, H. (2004). Triticale as animal feed.
- Naeem, H. A., Darvey, N. L., Gras, P. W., & MacRitchie, F. (2002). Mixing Properties, Baking Potential, and Functionality Changes in Storage Proteins During Dough Development of Triticale-Wheat Flour Blends. *Cereal chemistry*, 79(3), 332-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM.2002.79.3.332</u>
- Nassir, A. L., & Alawode, Y. O. (2016). Stability Analysis of Panicle and Grain Traits of Rainfed Upland Rice in Two Tropical Ecologies of Nigeria. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 39(4).
- Nešić, Z., Tomić, Z., Krnjaja, V., & Tomašević, D. (2008). Nitrates in plants and soil after fertilization of grass-legume mixtures. *Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry*, 24(5-6), 95-104.

- Noblet, J., & Perez, J. M. (1993). Prediction of digestibility of nutrients and energy values of pig diets from chemical analysis1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 71(12), 3389-3398. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/1993.71123389x</u>
- Norris, K. H. (1996). History of NIR. *Journal of Near Infrared Spectroscopy*, 4(1), 31-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1255/jnirs.941</u>
- Oettler, G., & Schmid, T. (2000). Genotypic variation for resistance to Septoria nodorum in triticale. *Plant breeding*, *119*(6), 487-490.
- Oweis, T., Zhang, H., & Pala, M. (2000). Water use efficiency of rainfed and irrigated bread wheat in a Mediterranean environment. *Agronomy journal*, 92(2), 231-238.
- Pena, R. (2004). Food uses of triticale. Triticale improvement and production, 37-48.
- Pojmaj, M. S., & Pojmaj, R. (1998, 1998). Investigation on the resistance of winter triticale to Stagonospora nodorum (Berk.) under artificial and natural conditions.
- Qi-hua, L. I. U., Xiu, W. U., Bo-cong, C., Cai-yun, X. I. N., Feng, C., Yu, W., . . . Jiaqing, M. A. (2014). Effects of different irrigation methods on grain quality of japonica rice in Huanghuai District of China. *Yingyong Shengtai Xuebao*, 25(9).
- Radecki, S. V., & Miller, E. R. (1990). Triticale. In (1 ed., pp. 493-500). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203711248-48

Richards, R. A., Dennett, C. W., Qualset, C. O., Epstein, E., Norlyn, J. D., & Winslow,
M. D. (1987). Variation in yield of grain and biomass in wheat, barley, and
triticale in a salt-affected field. *Field Crops Research*, *15*(3), 277-287.
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4290(87)90017-7

Rimpau, W. (1891). Kreuzungsprodukte landwirthschaftlicher kulturpflanzen.

- Rosenberger, A., Kaul, H. P., Senn, T., & Aufhammer, W. (2002). Costs of bioethanol production from winter cereals: the effect of growing conditions and crop production intensity levels. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 15(2), 91-102.
- Saed-Moucheshi, A., Razi, H., Dadkhodaie, A., Ghodsi, M., & Dastfal, M. (2019).
 Association of biochemical traits with grain yield in triticale genotypes under normal irrigation and drought stress conditions [Article]. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 13(2), 272-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.21475/ajcs.19.13.02.p1403</u>
- Safi, S., Şİmşek, H., & Ünlükara, A. (2013). Determining the effects of water and salinity stress on plant growth, development, yield and water consumption in grasspea (Lathyrus sativus L.). *Gaziosmanpaşa Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi*, 30(1), 1-12.
- Safiqur, M., Wu, M., Su, L., Hsu, Y.-A., Brodie, G., Cullen, B., & Cheng, L. (2021). 89 Assessment of NIRS and wet chemistry analytical methods for nutritive value analysis of microwave treated feeds. *Animal - science proceedings*, *12*(1), 68. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anscip.2021.03.090</u>
- Saha, H. K., American University of Beirut. Faculty of, A., Food Sciences.Department of Crop, P., & Protection. (1982). *Performance of triticale on the basis of agronomic and quality characters* (Publication Number Dissertation/Thesis) https://go.exlibris.link/MQpV9Cyw
- Sakai, S., & Sakai, A. (2005). Nature of size–number trade–off: test of the terminalstream-limitation model for seed production of Cardiocrium cordatum. *Oikos*, *108*(1), 105-114.
- Salmon, D., Mergoum, M., & Gomez-Macpherson, H. (2004). Triticale production and management. *Triticale improvement and production*, 179, 27-32.

- Samol, P., Umponstira, C., Klomjek, P., & Thongsanit, P. (2015). Responses of rice yield and grain quality to high temperature in open-top chamber to predict impact of future global warming in Thailand [Article]. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 9(9), 886-894. <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2s2.0-84945120718&partnerID=40&md5=f1c74a74a83d72bf49d8a3956873d470</u>
- Sanchez-Bragado, R., Kim, J. W., Rivera-Amado, C., Molero, G., Araus, J. L., Savin, R., & Slafer, G. A. (2020). Are awns truly relevant for wheat yields? A study of performance of awned/awnless isogenic lines and their response to source–sink manipulations. *Field Crops Research*, 254, 107827.
- Sarkar, A. M., & Paul, N. K. (2000). Effect of irrigation on growth stages and yield of wheat. *Bangladesh J. Agric*.
- Scherer, H. W. (2005). FERTILIZERS AND FERTILIZATION. In D. Hillel (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Soils in the Environment (pp. 20-26). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-348530-4/00229-0
- Schillinger, W. F., & Archer, D. W. (2020). Winter triticale: A long-term cropping systems experiment in a dry mediterranean climate [Article]. *Agronomy*, 10(11), Article 1777. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10111777</u>
- Schinkel, B. (2002, 2002). Triticale-still a healthy crop?
- Schwarte, A. J., Gibson, L. R., Karlen, D. L., Liebman, M., & Jannink, J. L. (2005). Planting date effects on winter triticale dry matter and nitrogen accumulation. *Agronomy journal*, 97(5), 1333-1341.
- Schwenke, G., Grace, P. R., & Bell, M. J. (2013). Nitrogen use efficiency. *Grains Research and Development*.

Shen, J., Li, C., Mi, G., Li, L., Yuan, L., Jiang, R., & Zhang, F. (2013). Maximizing root/rhizosphere efficiency to improve crop productivity and nutrient use efficiency in intensive agriculture of China. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64(5), 1181-1192.

Silva, A. D. N., Ramos, M. L. G., Ribeiro, W. Q. J., de Alencar, E. R., da Silva, P. C., de Lima, C. A., . . . Silva, M. A. V. (2020). Water stress alters physical and chemical quality in grains of common bean, triticale and wheat [Article]. *Agricultural Water Management*, 231, Article 106023.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2020.106023

Sirat, A., BAHAR, B., & BAHAR, N. (2022). Evaluation of grain quality properties and mineralcontents (Nutritional values) of triticale (X triticosecale wittmack) cultivars under rainfed agricultural conditions in the eastern black sea region of Turke. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.30848/PJB2022-3(35)

- Slafer, G. A., Elia, M., Savin, R., García, G. A., Terrile, I. I., Ferrante, A., . . . González,
 F. G. (2015). Fruiting efficiency: an alternative trait to further rise wheat yield. *Food and Energy Security*, 4(2), 92-109.
- Souza, E. J., Martin, J. M., Guttieri, M. J., O'Brien, K. M., Habernicht, D. K., Lanning,
 S. P., . . . Talbert, L. E. (2004). Influence of genotype, environment, and
 nitrogen management on spring wheat quality. *Crop Science*, 44(2), 425-432.
- Svečnjak, Z., Jareš, D., Kovačević, M., Barić, K., Ivanušić, T., Maćešić, D., & Dujmović Purgar, D. (2020). Changes in seed yield and quality resulting from lodging in italian ryegrass crop [Article]. *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, 21(1), 51-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.5513/JCEA01/21.1.2748</u>

- Svihus, B., & Gullord, M. (2002). Effect of chemical content and physical characteristics on nutritional value of wheat, barley and oats for poultry [Article]. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 102(1-4), 71-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(02)00254-7</u>
- Takahashi, T., & Nakaseko, K. (1993). The influence of sowing time on dry matter partitioning in spring wheat [Triticum aestivum]. *Japanese Journal of Crop Science (Japan)*.
- Tas, S., & Tas, B. (2007). Some physiological responses of drought stress in wheat genotypes with different ploidity in Turkiye. World J. Agric. Sci, 3(2), 178-183.
- Teng, W., Deng, Y., Chen, X.-P., Xu, X.-F., Chen, R.-Y., Lv, Y., ... Li, B. (2013).
 Characterization of root response to phosphorus supply from morphology to gene analysis in field-grown wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *64*(5), 1403-1411.
- Thakur, R., Pal, S. K., Singh, M. K., Verma, U. N., & Upasani, R. R. (2000). Response of late-sown wheat (Triticum aestivum) to irrigation schedules. *Indian Journal* of Agronomy, 45(3), 586-589.
- Thitisaksakul, M., Jiménez, R. C., Arias, M. C., & Beckles, D. M. (2012). Effects of environmental factors on cereal starch biosynthesis and composition. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 56(1), 67-80.

Tiefenbacher, K. F. (2017). Chapter Two - Technology of Main Ingredients—Water and Flours. In K. F. Tiefenbacher (Ed.), *Wafer and Waffle* (pp. 15-121). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809438-9.00002-8</u>

- Tóth, B., Moloi, M. J., Szöke, L., & Labuschagne, M. (2021). Low nitrogen and phosphorus effects on wheat Fe, Zn, phytic acid and phenotypic traits [Article]. *South African Journal of Science*, *117*(3-4), Article 8414. https://doi.org/10.17159/SAJS.2021/8414
- Tshewang, S., Jessop, R., & Birchall, C. (2011). Frost tolerance in triticale and other winter cereals at flowering
- Wahbi, A., & Shaaban, A. S. A. (2011). Relationship between carbon isotope discrimination (Δ), yield and water use efficiency of durum wheat in Northern Syria [Article]. *Agricultural Water Management*, 98(12), 1856-1866.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2011.06.012
- Wang, W.-H., Köhler, B., Cao, F.-Q., & Liu, L.-H. (2008). Molecular and physiological aspects of urea transport in higher plants. *Plant Science*, *175*(4), 467-477.
- Wang, W., Simmonds, J., Pan, Q., Davidson, D., He, F., Battal, A., ... Akhunov, E. (2018). Gene editing and mutagenesis reveal inter-cultivar differences and additivity in the contribution of TaGW2 homoeologues to grain size and weight in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 131(11), 2463-2475.
- Watson, C. J., Miller, H., Poland, P., Kilpatrick, D. J., Allen, M. D. B., Garrett, M. K., & Christianson, C. B. (1994). Soil properties and the ability of the urease inhibitor N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (nBTPT) to reduce ammonia volatilization from surface-applied urea. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 26(9), 1165-1171.
- Whan, A. P., Smith, A. B., Cavanagh, C. R., Ral, J.-P. F., Shaw, L. M., Howitt, C. A., & Bischof, L. (2014). GrainScan: a low cost, fast method for grain size and colour measurements. *Plant methods*, *10*(1), 1-10.

- Whish, J. (2013). Impact of stored water on risk and sowing decisions in western NSW. GRDC. <u>https://grdc.com.au/resources-and-publications/grdc-update-papers/tabcontent/grdc-update-papers/2013/07/impact-of-stored-water-on-risk-andsowing-decisions-in-western-nsw</u>
- White, J., & Edwards, J. (2008). Wheat growth and development. *Wheat growth and development*.

Williams, J. T. (1995). Cereals and pseudocereals (1st ed., Vol. 2.). Chapman & Hall. http://aub.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwdV25CgIxEB0
8GtHCE2_2BxRNdjemFHGxtFDQSpKYVCKCCn6-M1kvRLtkimESSF7mMW8CwNlwNPi6E7iMIHRCIuC6SCszYYRMsYxNLL
Rz_hOTpVxuxSbhizf98eDf1FV76uKg39QFnrQxtfvMIoRTkr6OU705C6mYY_ zqrZPOqSmgerYB9dCRlCFHcoIKZOyxCsXpB29fg9bM4pvtcA4wnQ9OZ3vdI
5p4Sx26yXw1WwzQ3e5Bseye4dxYA0qKStOPFy9h2zchiFioMSlSRgiNI66MI
RNuKJEIdahkC-o_fbX_2DtQSHXVxAN0Ie8wKtvz6-v7jbgDd-RkYA

- Williams, P. C., & Cordeiro, H. M. (1979, 1979). DETERMINATION OF PROTEIN AND MOISTURE IN HRS WHEAT BY NEAR-INFRARED REFLECTANCE SPECTROSCOPY. 2. INFLUENCE OF DEGRADING FACTORS, DOCKAGE AND WHEAT VARIETY.
- Wilson, S. (1875, 1873). II. Wheat and Rye hybrids.
- Wolff, A. (1976). Wheat x rye=triticale.
- Yu-kui, R., Yun-feng, P., Zheng-rui, W., & Jian-bo, S. (2012). Stem perimeter, height and biomass of maize (Zea mays L.) grown under different N fertilization regimes in Beijing, China. *International Journal of Plant Production*, 3(2), 85-90.

- Zhang, H., Redmon, L., Fuhrman, J. K., & Springer, T. (1999). Quick nitrate test for hybrid sudangrass and pearlmillet hays. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 30(11-12), 1573-1582.
- Zhang, K., Wang, J., Zhang, L., Rong, C., Zhao, F., Peng, T., . . . Wang, D. (2013).
 Association Analysis of Genomic Loci Important for Grain Weight Control in Elite Common Wheat Varieties Cultivated with Variable Water and Fertiliser Supply [Article]. *Plos One*, 8(3), Article e57853.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057853
- Zhang, Y. M., Xue, J., Zhai, J., Zhang, G. Q., Zhang, W. X., Wang, K. R., ... Li, S. K. (2021). Does nitrogen application rate affect the moisture content of corn grains? [Article]. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 20(10), 2627-2638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(20)63401-3</u>